
 
 

 

 
Meeting of:   

 
Cabinet 

Date: Tuesday, 29th June, 2021 
Time: 6.00 pm. 
Venue: Middleton Arena - LCpl Joel Halliwell VC Way, 

Middleton,  Manchester M24 1AG 

 

Item 
No. 

AGENDA Page No 

1   Apologies   

 To receive any apologies for absence.  

2   Minutes  4 - 5 

 Minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on 27th April 2021.  

3   Declarations of Interest   

 Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 

or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 

those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

 

4   Urgent Items of Business   

 To determine whether there are any additional items of business 

which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 

be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

 

5   Items for Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 

be excluded from the meeting. 

 

6   Final Outturn Report 2020/21  6 - 46 

 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and Corporate/ Chief 

Finance Officer. 

 

 

Public Document Pack



7   Careline Policy  47 - 76 

 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Adult Care and Wellbeing/ Director of 

Strategic Commissioning (DASS). 

 

8   Future High Street Fund - Grant Award for Rochdale Riverside 

Phase 2 (Upperbanks)  

77 - 80 

 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economy and 

Communications/Director of Economy. 

 

9   Neighbourhoods Rochdale Update  81 - 87 

 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economy and 

Communications/Director of Economy. 

 

10   Exclusion of Press and Public   

 To consider that the press and public be excluded from the remaining 

part of the meeting pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 on the grounds that discussions may involve the 

likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the provisions of 

Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 and public 

interest would not be served in publishing the information.  

 

11   Environmental Fleet Vehicles  88 - 96 

 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Environment and Facilities/Director of 

Neighbourhoods. 

 

12   Rochdale Development Agency (RDA) Core Revenue Funding 

2021-2022  

97 - 118 

 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economy and 

Communications/Assistant Director (Economy). 

 

13   Bowlee Park Golf Range, Heywood Old Road, Middleton  119 - 126 

 Report of the Portfolio Holder for Economy and 

Communications/Director of Economy. 

 



 
 

 

Cabinet Members 
Councillor Daalat Ali Councillor Neil Emmott 
Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed Councillor John Blundell 
Councillor Sara Rowbotham Councillor Carol Wardle 
Councillor Rachel Massey Councillor Daniel Meredith 
Councillor Liam O'Rourke Councillor Susan Smith 
 

For more information about this meeting, please contact  
Michael Garraway – Committee and Constitutional Services Manager 
Telephone: 01706 924718 
E-mail: michael.garraway2@rochdale.gov.uk 
 



CABINET 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
Tuesday, 27 April 2021 

 
PRESENT:  Councillors Daalat Ali (in the Chair), Neil Emmott, Iftikhar Ahmed, 
Blundell, Heakin, Rowbotham and Wardle 
 
OFFICERS: N. Thornton (Director of Resources), A. Ibrahim (Monitoring 
Officer), J. Murphy (Chief Finance Officer), G. Hopper (Director of Children’s 
Services), C.  Richardson (Director of Commissioning), j. Searle (Director of 
Economy)  
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillor Brett 
 

139 MINUTES 
RESOLVED 
That the minutes of the meeting of Cabinet held on the 30 March 2021 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

140 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

141 PUBLIC HEALTH COVID-19 GRANT FUNDING 20/21 & 21/22 
Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Public Health seeking 
approvals for the use of funding from grants to respond to the Covid-19 
pandemic.   
 
It was reported that the Government had announced in the COVID-19 
Response –spring 2021 roadmap an extra £400 million funding for the 
Contain Outbreak Management Fund, to cover further public health activities 
from 1 April 2021. The Rochdale allocation was £1,995,873 for 21/22.  
 
Alternatives considered 
No alternatives were considered. 
 
RESOLVED 
1. That approval be given to the use of funding to cover further public health 

activities from 1 April 2021 as detailed within the submitted report. 
2. Cabinet delegates the authority for allocating the ongoing COMF, CEV and 

self-isolation practical support funding to the Director of Public Health in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Health. 

3. Cabinet delegates the signing of any contract variations required as a 
result of administering the allocated funding to commissioned services to 
the Director of Public Health in consultation with the Cabinet member for 
Healthy Lives. 

 
Reason for resolution 
The allocation of the funding received has been made in consultation with key 
partners in Rochdale to ensure it meets the needs of the population during 

Public Document Pack

Page 4

Agenda Item 2



this period (see page 8 of the COVID outbreak plan embedded in section 8 of 
this report for the reporting structure). The allocations are also in line with the 
conditions of each grant. 
 

142 MEMBER DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 2021/22 
RESOLVED 
That the item be withdrawn. 
 

Page 5



1 
 

 

Report to Cabinet 

 

 

Date of Meeting 29th June 2021 

Portfolio Cabinet Member for Finance and 

Corporate 

Report Author Samantha Smith 

Public/Private Document Public 

 

Final Outturn Report 2020/21 

 

Executive Summary 

 

1. To inform Cabinet and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the 

Council’s Final Outturn position for 2020/21. 

1.1 The Final Outturn report contains details of the following: 

 The Revenue outturn position is an in-year saving of £2,737k, which is an increase 

of £185k from the position reported to March Cabinet. This has been transferred 

to the Equalisation Reserve as agreed by Members at Budget Council on 3rd 

March. 

 

 The outturn position for Covid-19 costs and income pressures reported an 

underspend against the grants received for use against Covid-19 pressures of 

£8,647k.  This has been carried forward in a reserve for use in future years against 

Covid-19 pressures.  Section 4.1.4 highlights the current forecast pressures in 

2021/22 at £17.6m. 

 

 There continues to be a pressure on the High Needs Block Dedicated Schools 

Grant (DSG). The 2020/21 in-year pressure is £1,822k, leaving a closing 2020/21 

deficit position on the High Needs Block DSG reserve of £5,100k. 

 

 Savings plans of £4,171k ongoing and £280k one off were included in the 2020/21 

budget. £150k of savings were not achieved due to the impact of Covid-19; this is 

a decrease of £239k from the period 10 forecast. 

 

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



2 
 

 An update on the Health & Social Care Pool Fund position, which, after the 

application of Covid-19 Emergency funding, leaves a breakeven position. 

 

 2020/21Capital expenditure was £53,872k; this position is after the re-phasing of 

£13,285k to 2021/22, the return of unspent budget of £8k and capital budget 

increases of £13,653k. 

 

 The final 2020/21 Collection Fund position is a deficit of £24,955k, which is 
partially mitigated by increased government Section 31 grant of £21,151k; this 
leaves a residual pressure of £3,804k, relating to the impact of Covid-19.  

 

 The Treasury Management update which is included at Appendix D.  The update 

highlights that no further borrowing was undertaken in the financial year and the 

current level of borrowing is £222.879m.  The level of investments held at 31/03/21 

was £120.9m which compares to £116.6m last year. The Council earned £0.245m 

on its short-term investments compared to an initial target of £0.338m. 

 

 The proposed change to the pension arrangements for some Link4Life 

employees. 

Recommendations 

 

2.1 Cabinet notes the final 2020/21 outturn positions for Revenue, DSG, Capital, and 

the Collection Fund as at the end of 2020/21, as detailed in section 4. 

2.2 Cabinet notes the Covid-19 reserve for future use against Covid-19 costs 

pressures and losses of income and the movement in corporate reserves 

available for future non Covid-19 budget pressures. 

2.3 Cabinet notes the intention of Link4Life to change the pension arrangements for 

most new employees, and establish a new defined contribution scheme, as 

mentioned in section 4.1.6. 

2.4 Cabinet notes the final Health & Social Care Pool Budget position as detailed in 
section 4.2. 

 
2.5 Cabinet approves the Budget Pressure requests detailed in section 4.3, and 

Cabinet notes that several budget pressure requests have been returned by 
directorates for 2020/21. 

 
2.6 Cabinet notes that after accounting for agreed Budget Carry Forwards, any 

remaining in-year savings have been transferred to the Equalisation Reserve. 
 
2.7 Cabinet notes the unachieved Savings target in section 4.4. 
 
2.8 Cabinet notes the net Capital budget changes of £13,653k for 2020/21 detailed in 

section 4.6.1. 

Page 7



3 
 

 
2.9 Cabinet notes the Capital re-phasing of £13,285k detailed in section 4.6.3. 
 
2.10 Cabinet approves the requests for capital budget switches within Neighborhood’s 

Service as detailed in section 4.6.4. 
 
2.11 Cabinet notes the Treasury Management update report which is included at 

Appendix D. 
 
 

Reason for Recommendation 

 

3. Cabinet Members should be kept updated on the financial position of the authority, 

as effective budget management is critical to ensuring financial resources are 

spent in line with the budget and are targeted towards the Council’s priorities. 

This report contains the final outturn position for 2020/21.  
 

Key Points for Consideration 

 

4. Revenue Budget 2020/21 

 

4.1 The budget set by Budget Council on 26th February 2020 was £224,127k. 
Increases in budget in this financial year are detailed in the following table: 

 

 
 

The Revenue Budget Table in 4.1.2 provides detail of budget allocations and the 
2020/21 financial position. 
 

4.1.1 The final position as at the end of 2020/21 is a General Fund in-year saving of 

£2,737k: 

When Reason for change 
Amount 
(£'000) 

 Balance Brought Forward from P10 265,810 

Mar-21 Loss of sales, fees & charges income adjustment (430) 

Mar-21 
S31 Business Rates Relief adjustment re amount 
paid on account 412 

Mar-21 Covid-19 New burdens administration grants 436 

Mar-21 
75% Council Tax & Business Rates tax income 
guarantee scheme compensation 108 

Mar-21 Increased 2019/20 Renewable energy income 93 

Mar-21 Minor grant adjustments 8 

   GRAND TOTAL 266,437   

Page 8



4 
 

 Non Covid-19 in-year savings are £2,737k. 

 

 Budgets have been provided to Services for Covid-19 related costs totalling 

£15,557k from the Emergency Government Funding; unutilised funding has 

been transferred to an earmarked reserve in order to meet expected further 

Covid-19 pressures that will continue in 2021/22. The future pressures that 

are expected to arise relate particularly to demand led services and 

economic issues affecting businesses. 

The final outturn position is a reduced in-year saving movement of £185k from 
that reported to March Cabinet. Detail can be found in the tables below: 

Page 9



5 
 

The table below provides detail by Directorate:  
 

Directorate/Detail Current 

Controllable 

Net Budget 

Final 

Controllable 

Outurn P12  

 

In-Year 

Saving/ 

(Overspend) 

Transfer 

(to)/from 

Equalisation 

Reserve 

Previous 

Monitoring 

Report P10 

Movement 

since 

March 

Cabinet 

 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 

Adult Care 43,409 42,269 1,140 (1,140) 712 428 

Children’s 39,522 

 

38,344 1,178 (1,178) 1,142 36 

Economy 19,026 19,887 (861) 861 (795) (66) 

Neighbourhoods 49,550 48,716 834 (834) 263 571 

Public Health  18,973 18,920 53 (53) 50 3 

Resources 14,883 14,820 63 (63) 249 (186) 

Total Services Spending 185,363 182,956 2,407 (2,407) 1,621 786 

Finance Control Corporately Held 

Budgets 

56,258 55,928 330 (330) 931 (601) 

Finance Control Equalisation Transfer (2,737) (2,737) - 2,737 - - 

Covid-19 Emergency Funding 15,557 15,557 - - - - 

Dedicated Schools Grant Reserve 1,822 1,822 - - - - 

Total Finance Control Spending 70,900 70,570 330 

 

2,407 931 (601) 

Net Expenditure 256,263 253,526 2,737 - 2,552 185 

Uncontrollable Budget Spend 10,174 10,174 - - - - 

Total Budget 266,437 263,700 2,737 - 2,552 185 

 
 

 
 

P
age 10



6 
 

The variations to controllable Revenue budget, by service, which are not related 

to Covid-19 are detailed below, and further detail may be found in Appendix A: 

Service Narrative 
Amount 
£'000 

Adult Care 

As at the end of March, Adult Care is reporting an in-
year saving of £1,140k. This is due to a combination 
of staff turnover, reduced residential placements and 
one off-funding. The non-Covid-19 position has 
changed from the previous report by £440k due to a 
reduction in Agency costs and growth, and the bad 
debt write off being lower than forecast at p10.  

1,140 

Children's  

General Fund - Children's Services outturn position 
for 2020/21 is an underspend of £1,178k.  
There has been an overall reduction on external 
placements when compared to 2019/20, as well as 
an increase in recruitment of internal foster carers 
which has contributed to the underspend. 
  
The underspend on Special Education Needs 
(SEND) is due to how the service delivery has been 
forced to change throughout the year. With the 
limitations of Covid-19 restrictions, the service have 
been creative with existing budgets which has 
worked towards supporting children and families and 
preventing situations escalating and children 
becoming cared for throughout this difficult time. 
 
Designated Schools Grant (DSG) - The final position 
on the High Needs Dedicated Schools Grant is a 
£1,822k in year deficit, which is due to the continued 
growth in Education Health Care Plans and SEN 
Support. There was a rise in Education Health Care 
Plan requests as schools returned in March and it's 
expected that this is a delayed impact of Covid-19 
and children not being in school. All special schools 
within the borough are at maximum capacity, 
therefore any further requests for places will 
ultimately have to be placed out of borough at 
independent schools, which is a high cost provision. 
The service are working with schools at both primary 
and secondary level to increase SEND provision 
within the borough. The cumulative deficit position 
on the high needs block is £5.1m. 

1,178 

Page 11



7 
 

Service Narrative 
Amount 
£'000 

Economy 

The Directorate is reporting an in-year pressure of 
£860k.  The Property Growth Fund has shifted focus 
in this financial year from the acquisition of 
commercial property to bringing forward 
development opportunities within the borough, with 
the primary purpose of regeneration.  This has 
meant levels of investment to date are lower than 
was estimated at the Fund’s inception, and levels of 
return are lower than budgeted as a 
consequence.  Net yield on actual investments 
made remains on target across the portfolio with the 
exception of one development scheme, where a 
deficit was expected in the early years of 
operation.  Contributions to earmarked reserves 
have also been increased from levels previously 
reported in order to prudently provide for expected 
costs inherent in the early years of new 
developments, and this has increased the reported 
variance.  There has also been a pressure within the 
Rochdale Riverside retail and leisure development, 
which has been severely affected by the Covid-19 
pandemic from opening in April 2020.  The Council 
has been able to apply available funding to mitigate 
some level of pressure; the remaining pressure 
relates to the operational costs of the car park being 
higher than anticipated.  These pressures have been 
partially mitigated by additional rental income from 
Industrial Estates and Commercial Properties, and 
revenue receipts from the disposal of assets.  There 
has also been a contribution of £240k to the 
Planning Income Smoothing Reserve as a result of 
higher than anticipated Planning Fee income in the 
last quarter of 2020/21. 

(861) 

Neighbourhoods 

The Neighbourhoods Directorate is reporting an in-
year saving of £834k.  This reflects savings arising 
from staff vacancies and lower than anticipated 
costs on borrowing within Environmental 
Management following rephasing of capital invest to 
save schemes, savings due to staff vacancies for 
Facilities Management and Community & 
Townships, in-year savings in relation to over 
achievement of income targets for various areas 
during the financial year 2020/21 and savings on 
energy costs. There is a pressure of £862k relating 
to homelessness bed and breakfast & supported 
exempt housing related costs as full housing benefit 
subsidy cannot be reclaimed. Corporate funding has 
been utilised to offset this subsidy shortfall. 

834 

Page 12



8 
 

Service Narrative 
Amount 
£'000 

A request is made for budget pressure funding of 
£55k in 2021/22 to cover the loss of income relating 
to lost school contracts with FM trading accounts. 

Finance Control 

An in-year saving of £330k is reported due to 
continued internal borrowing and rephasing of the 
capital programme being partially offset by reduced 
investment income as shown within the Treasury 
Management Strategy in Appendix D. This is a 
reduction from that reported at P10 due to a 
pressure relating to the pension strain. 
 

330 

Public Health 

Public Health are reporting a £53k in year saving for 
2020/21. There are in-year savings in Substance 
Misuse and Sexual Health due to reduced activity 
because of Covid-19, and vacancies within the 
Public Health team. The in-year savings have been 
used to offset staffing costs for those working on 
Covid-19, and a pressure on the 0-19 Children’s' 
contract. 

53 

Resources 

The Resources Directorate is reporting an in-year 
saving of £63k. This includes a pressure within the 
Legal Shared Service with Manchester which is 
currently under discussion with Partners.  This 
pressure has been mitigated from in-year employee 
savings from vacant posts, temporary arrangements, 
and one off funding.  There is also an in-year saving 
in relation to the Occupational Health Contract, and 
reduced Mayoral activity as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic.  The Directorate has carried forward 
budget into 2021/22 for the Transformation Team 
and the iTrent Payroll System. 

63 

Total   2,737 

 
4.1.3 At Budget Council, Members approved the transfer of any revenue in-year savings 

to the Equalisation Reserve. 

 A summary of Budget Carry Forwards which have been processed and are 

excluded from the reported variances in the tables above are detailed in the table 

below: 

 

 

 

Page 13



9 
 

Service 

Automatic 

Requests 

£’000 

Non-

Automatic 

Requests 

£’000 

Total 

£’000 

Adult Care 119 
                    

-    119  

Children’s 401 20  421  

Neighbourhoods 400      1,157  1,557  

Resources 0 382  382  

Total Directorate 2020/21 Budget Carry 
Forward Requests  

               
920  1,559  2,479  

 

4.1.4 Movement in Corporate Reserves 

 The Reserves Policy approved at Cabinet in February highlights the management 

of reserves and the split of responsibilities.  The Chief Finance Officer has 

responsibility for the corporate reserves as these are available to support future 

budget pressures for the Council. These include the equalisation reserve, 

insurance reserve, airport reserve, public contingency and business rates growth.   

 At year end a review of these reserves took place in which some of the balances 

within the equalisation reserve and public contingency have been earmarked for 

transformation over and above the current Transformation Fund Reserve and to 

increase the airport reserve to cover an additional year’s loss of income.  These 

allocations will be released for use from 2021/22 onwards based on need. 

4.1.5 The following table shows the final spend relating to Covid-19 in 2020/21 and 

how this has been funded. 

  

Page 14



10 
 

 

Expenditure £'000s 

Adults         10,849  

Children's           2,750  

Economy              446  

Finance Control              541  

Neighbourhoods           5,229  

Public Health           1,860  

Resources           3,066  

Total Spending Pressure 24,741 

Less funding received for specific Covid-19 grants 
& CCG funding 

(17,421) 

Funding Pressure 7,320 

Income £'000s 

Sales, fees and charges 1,981 

Commercial Income 6,256 

Total reduction in Income 8,237 

Total Pressure 15,557 

Government Emergency Funding (22,231) 

Government compensation re Sales, Fees & 
Charges Income, and New Burdens Funding 

(1,973) 

Funding for forecast pressures in 2021/22 (8,647) 

  

  

Unused specific grants have been accounted at 2020/21 year end in accordance 

with their grant conditions, and most unutilised funding will be available for use in 

2021/22. 

The current forecast impact of Covid-19 in 2021/22 is £17.6m, comprising: 

£8.5m on non-grant specific costs. 

£1.6m sales, fees and charges losses. 

£7.5m of commercial income losses. 

£8.6m of unringfenced government funding has been carried forward from 2020/21 

in an earmarked reserve and is expected to be used to offset demand led and 

economic pressures. A further allocation of £7.6m of government funding has been 

included in the 2021/22 budget; both amounts will be used to offset the above 

forecast Covid-19 pressures. 

Page 15



11 
 

Work continues to assess the financial impact and timeframe involved relating to 

Covid-19. The longer term implications are being considered to support the Council 

in its financial planning going forward. 

The Council will, with other Greater Manchester councils, continue to lobby the 

government to provide further funding to offset the ongoing financial impact of 

Covid-19. 

 There is a £450k pension strain pressure due to a number of ill health retirements 

being agreed over and above the annual allowance. This pressure is shown within 

Finance Control and has reduced the underspend reported at P10. 

4.1.6 Link4Life have been reviewing the existing pension provision for their employees, 

and have recommended closing the Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF) 

to the majority of new staff. The intention is to establish a defined contribution 

scheme that meets the parameters of defined contribution pension schemes 

included in the original Link4Life Partnership Agreement. The proposal is in line 

with arrangements at neighbouring leisure trusts and to ensure their business plan 

is financially sustainable. 

Pension arrangements for active, deferred and retired staff will be unaffected by 

this proposal, unless individuals start a new role in the organisation. 

The Council will not be acting as guarantor to the new proposed pension 

arrangements. 

4.2 Health & Social Care Pool Budget 
 

The Health and Social Care pool outturn position is break even for 2020/21. The 

CCG element of the pool was fully funded in year due to the current command 

and control arrangements in place for NHS organisations.  

The Councils element of the pooled budget reported a net Covid-19 pressure of 

£6.8m, £3.5m of which was funded from the NHS Hospital Discharge 

Programme, and £3.3m from Council Covid-19 grant funding.   

Non-Covid-19 in year savings totalling £1.2m were reported against the pool for 

Adult Social Care and Public Health, which has reduced the Council’s 

contribution to the pool. 

4.3 Budget Pressures 

 

The Budget Pressure Fund for 2020/21 reported to March Cabinet was £548k; 

the following table details adjustments and requests received to the end of March 

2021: 

Page 16



12 
 

Service 
Ongoing 
£000s 

One off 
£000's 

Total 
£000s Narrative 

P12 Opening 
Balance 2020/21 473.9 74.1 548   

Neighbourhoods   (298)   

Return of budget pressures funding 
relating to Street Lighting energy budget 
not utilised in 2020/21 

Children's   (10)   

Return of budget pressures funding 
 relating to the Get Creative Packs  
which has been funded by Public Health 

Resources   (15)   

Return of budget pressures funding 
 relating to Greater Manchester Working 
Together Programme 

Resources  (8)    

Return of HR Business partners 
2020/21 allocation as unutilised  
but will continue in 2021/22 

Resources  (18.8)    

Return of budget pressures relating 
to posts within HR due to delays in 
Scheme. Funding will continue in 
2021/22 

Economy   (9)   

Switch 2020/21 request for funding  
for Town Hall Valuations to 2021/22due 
to timing of expenditure 

Resources 0.2   
Legal system – minor adjustment to 
reflect final position. 

Resources  (4)  
MeLearning request (minor adjustment 
to previous request) 

Neighbourhoods  (4.1)  

One off budget pressure funding was 
requested for Springfield Park Barn for 
emergency works – this will now be 
used in 2021/22 

Neighbourhoods  (13.9)  

The One off funding that was previously 
approved relating to the management of 
Bowlee Sports Centre and St Marys kick 
pitch while a solution is sought for the 
properties will now be used 21/22 

Final Balance to 
c/f 2021/22 500.5 428.1 928.6   

Future Years 
Requests 2021/22         

Resources   27.6   

Accessibility work within Governance 
to assure compliance with Legislation 
for 2 years @ £27.6 per annum  

Resources 88.2   

Additional posts of Civic Support Officer 
& Democratic Services Officer to 
support service needs 

Page 17



13 
 

Service 
Ongoing 
£000s 

One off 
£000's 

Total 
£000s Narrative 

Economy   9   

Town Hall Valuation funding from 
2020/21 
 to receive costs in 2021/22 

Neighbourhoods 55     
Cleaning & Catering schools contracts  
loss of income 

Neighbourhoods  216  

Request to fund 4 FTE posts to deliver a 
12 month pilot project to develop Quality 
Standards for the Supported Housing 
service are, and reduce related Housing 
Benefit subsidy loss. 

Neighbourhoods  19    
SEN Transport support for increase  
in demand 

 

After the return of budget pressures the balance remaining for budget pressures 

in 2020/21 is £928.6k; £500.5k ongoing and £428.1k one off. The total of £928.6k 

will be carried forward as one off available budget into 2021/22 

4.4 Savings 
 

The overall savings target for Services for 2020/21 is £4,451k (£4,171k recurrent, 

and £280k one-off). Services have identified savings proposals which have a 

balance to address relating to Covid-19 of £150k as shown in the table below.  

The change from Period 10 is a decrease in the pressure of £239k. 

Service Nature of Saving Savings 
Target - 

Ongoing 

Savings 
Target - 
One Off 

Total to 
Address 

     £'000  £'000  £'000 

Neighbourhoods 

Income generation from 
advertising / Digital 
advertising screens 

               
7  

              
-    

               
7  

Neighbourhoods 
Place based asset 
management system 

          
100  

              
-    

             
40  

  
Balance to Address 
Neighbourhoods 107 0 47 

Public Health 

System wide 
prevention review 
(including YP 
Substance Misuse and 
Sexual Health Contract 
review) 

          
129  

              
-    

          
103  

  
Balance to Address 
Public Health 129 0 103 

Savings with Balance to Address 236 0 150 

Page 18



14 
 

 

4.5 Transformation Fund 

 

The following schemes were due to achieve savings during 2020/21, but have been 

impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic: 

 Adult Care, Accommodation Strategy - There has been a delay to the 

progression of the Accommodation Strategy as the consultancy resource has 

been refocused to support Covid-19 work and the vaccinations programme, 

meaning that expenditure will be reduced from £120k to £85k, and the 

forecast savings of £54k will not be realised until 2021/22. 

 

 Neighbourhoods, Place Based Asset Management – The project has not been 

implemented as quickly as initially anticipated, partially as a result of the 

impact of Covid-19.  Projected savings of £100k have been partially mitigated 

by £60k in year savings within Neighbourhoods service, with the remaining 

£40k reflected against the non-specific Covid-19 grant funding. 

 

 Invoice Processing/Oxygen Project – the initiative has been impacted by the 

decision at the end of March 2020 to make immediate payment to suppliers 

with the intention of ensuring service continuity, and supporting suppliers as 

the impact of Covid-19 progressed.  At 27th October Cabinet it was agreed to 

resume standard supplier payment terms of 30 days, however, this has not 

had the expected impact and supplier take up has been minimal.  Therefore, 

the 2020/21 saving target of £120k has not been achieved and will be closely 

monitored in 2021/22. 

 

4.6 Capital Budget 2020/21 
 

The final outturn for the 2020/21 Capital Budget is £53,872k.  The table below 

shows a summary of the budget movements since the end of January 2021: 

  
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

£'000s £'000s £'000s 

BUDGET AS AT END JANUARY 2021 53,512 132,342 45,444 

Capital Budget Changes 13,653  - 

Rephasing Requests P12 (13,285) 13,285 - 

Capital underspend (8)   

BUDGET AS AT END  MARCH 2021 53,872 145,627 45,444 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



15 
 

 

4.6.1 Capital Budget Changes 
 

Details of the changes to capital budgets are shown in the table below: 

Service Narrative Funding Method 

Capital 
Budget 
Increases/ 
(Reductions) 
£000's 

Adult Care 
Springhill renovations use of 
Grants 

External Funding 44 

Children's 
Match funding for Devolved 
Formula Capital 

RCCO 2,041 

Children's PFI Lifecycle costs  RCCO 1,682 

Children's 
Schools Building Maintenance 
contribution 

RCCO 40 

Children's 
Schools Access Budget 
contribution from revenue 

RCCO 13 

Economy 
Flood Management Scheme 
grant received External Funding 97 

Economy 

Contribution for Milkstone Rd / 
Station scheme Transport for 
Greater Manchester External Funding 44 

Economy 

European Regional 
Development Fund Fire Station 
Scheme External Funding 383 

Economy 
Towns Fund grant for Fire 
Station External Funding 1,000 

Economy 
Brownfield Grant for Rochdale 
Riverside Phase 2 External Funding 2,215 

Economy 
Environment Agency funding 
for Flood Management External Funding 65 

Economy 
Historic England funding for 
Drake Street External Funding 46 

Economy 
National Lottery Heritage fund 
for Fire Station Museum External Funding 1,158 

Economy 
Historic England funding for 
Hopwood Hall Works External Funding 13 

Economy Lifecycle costs PFI  RCCO 70 

Neighbourhoods N1r utilisation RCCO RCCO 70 

Neighbourhoods ICT Equipment  RCCO 13 

Neighbourhoods Full Fibre project Grant External Funding 892 

Neighbourhoods Whitfield Brow Flood recovery External Funding 422 

Neighbourhoods 
Environment Agency Calder 
Ave Flood External Funding 12 

Neighbourhoods Energy Efficiency contributions External Funding 17 

Neighbourhoods Langley Land Pool agreement  Capital Receipts 215 

Neighbourhoods S106 - Heywood St James  External Funding 23 

Neighbourhoods Coroners Accommodation External Funding 434 

Page 20



16 
 

Service Narrative Funding Method 

Capital 
Budget 
Increases/ 
(Reductions) 
£000's 

Neighbourhoods 
Additional grant received for 
Local Transport Plan External Funding 3 

Neighbourhoods 
Junction 19 Get Building Fund 
Grant External Funding 2,041 

Neighbourhoods 
Transport for Greater 
Manchester ambition grant External Funding 2 

Neighbourhoods Mayor Challenge Fund External Funding 137 

Neighbourhoods 
Growth Deal Bus Stop 
Enhancements External Funding 47 

Neighbourhoods Pothole grant utilisation External Funding 365 

Neighbourhoods 
Better Care Fund NHS 
Hospital signage External Funding 31 

Neighbourhoods Section 38 Contributions External Funding 8 

Resources Adjustment to Airport Budget Invest to Save 10 

  Total Movement from P10   
                

13,653  

Neighbourhoods 
GM Air Quality Monitoring 
Station - Scheme is now 
complete. 

External Funding (8) 

  Total Budget Returns                   (8)  

 

4.6.3 Capital Re-phasing requests of £13,285k which have been approved by the 

Chief Finance Officer are shown in the table below.  

Service Narrative 
Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

Adult Care 

Better Care Fund - this funding is for development 
of integrated neighbourhood team sites which will 
continue into new year due to delays due to 
Covid-19 

17 

Adult Care 

Better Care Fund - this funding is for development 
of integrated neighbourhood team sites which will 
continue into new year due to delays due to 
Covid-19 

220 

Children's 

Devolved Formula Capital: - There are 26 schools 
that are rephasing their budgets into the next 
financial year. This funding is ring-fenced to 
schools and they have the ability to move funding 
between financial years. 

446 

Page 21



17 
 

Service Narrative 
Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

Children's 

New Place Planning: - The building scheme to 
increase the number of pupil places at Brownhill 
Learning Community ASC is due for completion in 
2022-2023, the schemes at Harwood Park, 
Castleton Primary school and to increase dining 
capacity at Falinge Park High school, will be 
completed in 2021-22. Rephasing was carried out 
earlier in the year but some ongoing space 
demand projects required further funding. 

(667) 

Children's 
Schools Capital Condition Programme: - 
Rephasing was carried out earlier in the year on 
some schemes which completed under budget. 

730 

Children's 

Special Provision Capital Fund: - Capital 
investments in the provision for pupils with special 
educational needs and disabilities are ongoing 
this year with work at Shawclough Primary and 
will continue with the Autistic Secondary level at 
Falinge into 2021-2022. A payment late in the 
financial year for Shawclough SEN Unit has 
required further funding.  

(7) 

Economy 
Definitive Right Of Way Improvement Programme 
: Legal work for a draft order to take place, 
therefore budget to be rephased to 2021/22 

54 

Economy 

Town Centre Schemes: Upperbanks: Brownfield 
Land grant received so remaining budget to be 
rephased to 2021/22 £2,874k. Town Hall 
Adaptation and Restoration: The Phase 1 works 
continue into 2021/22 £920k. Town Centre 
Schemes 2016/17: Various grant funding has 
been received to fund these works to be 
rephased to complete the project £908k. 
Rochdale Town Centre 3 Year Strategy: The 
projects are either finished or nearing completion, 
and will be completed during 2021/22 £252k. 
Other minor schemes £622k 

5,576 

Economy 
River Roch Flood Storage: Scheme on-going and 
works to be funded from budget rephased to 
2021/22 

97 

Economy 
Rochdale Gateways Environmental Programme : 
Scheme on-going and works to be funded from 
budget rephased to 2021/22 

17 

Economy 

Stakehill Industrial Estate : £50k budget rephased 
to 2021/22 during 2020/21, but expenditure in 
2020/21 slightly more than anticipated, therefore 
£4k to be rephased back into 2020/21 

(4) 

Page 22



18 
 

Service Narrative 
Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

Economy 
Asset Development Fund - Rephase request from 
current year to future year 2021/22 to reflect 
delayed start of projects 

124 

Economy 
Property Growth Fund - Rephase request from 
current year to future year 2021/22 to reflect 
delayed start of projects 

229 

Economy 

East Lancashire Railway: Works to undertake 
works at Heywood station have been put on hold 
whilst the East Lancs Railway have temporarily 
ceased operations during the pandemic. These 
works are expected to now be undertaken in 
2021/22 when services resume.  

4 

Economy 

Heywood South/Junction 19: Budget to be 
rephased to support further feasibility work on the 
delivery of the South Heywood link road. 
Implementation of the highway link road scheme 
was delayed during 2020. 

(23) 

Economy 

Railway Strategy Park & Ride: Expenditure to 
date is on feasibility fees. £200k was rephased to 
2021/22 during 2020/21 and an additional 
rephase is requested to fund the scheme in 
2021/22 

33 

Economy 

Northern Gateway Feasibility & Study:  The 
rephasing of this budget is required to match fund 
an allocation of Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (GMCA) Evergreen funding awarded to 
Rochdale and Bury Councils to progress work on 
Northern Gateway with a deadline for spend of 
the grant by December 2021. The awarding of 
this funding has reduced Council spend during 
2020/21 

25 

Economy 

Pennine Hollingworth Lake Feasibility : £30k 
rephased to 2021/22 previously, but expenditure 
slightly more than anticipated, therefore £7k 
requested to be rephased back to 2020/21 to fund 
these costs 

(7) 

Economy 
Birch Fountain & Horse Trough Middleton : 
Scheme not commenced, therefore budget to be 
rephased to 2021/22 

22 

Economy 

East Lancashire Railway - Castleton Masterplan: 
Expenditure to date is on consultants fees. The 
scheme has not commenced yet, therefore the 
budget is to be rephased to 2021/22 

480 

Page 23



19 
 

Service Narrative 
Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

Economy 

Michael Faraday Avenue: There is grant funded 
budget of £500k in 2020/21 for the Getting 
Building Fund. £391k has been spent in 2020/21, 
therefore £109k to be rephased to 2021/22 to 
continue on-going works 

109 

 N’Hoods 

ICT Infrastructure Refresh Programme - The 
Refresh Programme is an ongoing project, 
request is made to rephase remaining budget to 
2021/22 to continue 

72 

 N’Hoods 
ICT Programmes (Staff) - A request is made to 
rephase remaining budget to 2021/22 to fund staff 
working on the Full Fibre project. 

55 

 N’Hoods 
Townships Capital Programme - A request is 
made to rephase budget to 2021/22 to fund 
ongoing commitments within Townships 

38 

 N’Hoods 
Housing Standards Fund - Project is over a 
number of years and is progressing well and 
budget is required in 2021/22. 

35 

 N’Hoods 
Kirkholt Investment: - Project is complete with the 
remaining retention due to be billed in 2021/22. 

6 

 N’Hoods 

Replacement Parks/Street Machinery - A request 
is made to vire £26k of budget from Replacement 
Parks/Street Machinery to S106 Environmental 
Management Schemes to support a programme 
of works to the changing facilities and sports 
pitches at Balderstone Park. A request is also 
made to rephase £4k of budget to complete the 
manifesto funded Street Bins scheme in 2021-22 

4 

 N’Hoods 
Rights Of Way - A request is made to rephase 
budget to enable a programme of works to be 
completed on the rights of way network. 

47 

 N’Hoods 

Rochdale Cemetery Lodge Repair - Request to 
rephase budget into 2021-22 to cover the cost of 
transforming the lodge into a memorial hall.  
Contractors are on site an anticipated summer 
completion date. 

66 

 N’Hoods 

Section 106 - Environmental Management - A 
request is made to vire budget from Replacement 
Parks/Street Machinery (£26k) and Waste Bin 
Replacement (£20k) to S106 Environmental 
Management Schemes and to then rephase 
£177k into 2021-22 to support a programme of 
works to the changing facilities and sports pitches 
at Balderstone Park. 

177 

Page 24



20 
 

Service Narrative 
Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

 N’Hoods 

Townships Capital - Environmental Management 
- Work on a small number of the schemes 
approved by Townships relating to environmental 
improvements will be undertaken during 2021/22. 

74 

 N’Hoods 

Upgrade Play Equipment - Schemes have 
progressed faster than anticipated and therefore 
budget is required to be rephased back to cover 
costs. 

(1) 

 N’Hoods 

Asset Management Group - A number of 
schemes could not be completed but were 
committed in 2020/21 and will be finalised in early 
2021/22. A request is made to rephase the 
budget. 

324 

 N’Hoods 

Local Transport Plan A number of schemes could 
not be completed in 2020/21 and will be finalised 
in 2021/22.  A request is made to rephase the 
budget. 

373 

 N’Hoods 

Townships Capital - Highways Delay in the 
delivery of Township capital schemes due to 
timing of approvals and final specifications.  A 
request is made to rephase the budget. 

449 

 N’Hoods 
Coroners Service accommodation - A request is 
made to rephase budget to 2021/22 to fund 
ongoing project 

93 

 N’Hoods 
Additional Highways Funding   A request is made 
to rephase the budget to 2021/22. 

78 

 N’Hoods 
J19 Feasibility Scheme is progressing well and a 
request is made to rephase budget to 2021/22. 

758 

 N’Hoods 
Developer Contributions - Plans are currently 
being worked on with the work expected to start 
in 2021/22. 

83 

 N’Hoods 

Compulsory Purchase Order Programme - The 
service are in the process of submitting several 
CPO orders to the Secretary of State for 
approval, some of which may result in public 
enquiries.  In addition, negotiations are underway 
with property/site owners to try and acquire the 
properties in advance of the CPO.  The legal 
condition to ensure that resources are available to 
carry through the CPO before embarking on the 
process is still an imperative and therefore the 
majority of spend on the CPO programme will 
come in 2021/22, and beyond, for the 
programme.  Request remaining budget from 
2020/21 is rephased to 2021/22. 

327 

Page 25



21 
 

Service Narrative 
Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

 N’Hoods 

Travellers Authorised Stopping Site - A request is 
made to rephase budget to 2021/22 to fund the 
final stages of the project.  Delays in utility work 
has impacted on the programme running into 
2021/22. 

46 

 N’Hoods 
Climate Emergency - The Climate Emergency 
project spans multiple years, request to rephase 
budget to 2021/22 

19 

 N’Hoods 

Car Parking Machines- Rephase required to 
complete the upgrade programme of car parking 
machines in 2021/22.  A request is made to 
rephase the budget. 

9 

 N’Hoods 

Allotments 2017-18 Manifesto Funding - Request 
to rephase budget into 2021-22 to complete the 
scheme to create new allotments at the site in 
Great Howarth. 

44 

 N’Hoods 

Accelerated Housing - Progress has been made 
with GMCA and Homes England, with potential 
sites identified and discussions underway with 
landowners and developers. However the current 
Covid-19 situation (which has impacted on 
development processes and precursor actions 
such as site testing) has slowed the progress and 
therefore it is requested that the remaining 
funding is rephased to 2021/22. 

111 

 N’Hoods 

Affordable Housing - Progress has been made, 
with potential sites identified and discussions 
underway with landowners and developers. 
However the current Covid-19 situation (which 
has impacted on development processes and 
precursor actions such as site testing) has slowed 
the progress and therefore it is requested that the 
remaining funding is rephased to 2021/22. 

2,325 

 N’Hoods 
Customer Transformation Programme - This 
project spans multiple years, request is made to 
rephase to 2021/22 

279 

 N’Hoods 
Library Self Service - A request is made to 
rephase budget to 2021/22 to fund ongoing 
project 

20 

 N’Hoods 
N1R Utilisation - A request is made to rephase 
budget to 2021/22 to complete the project 

70 

 N’Hoods 
Highways Investment Programme - Carriage 
Ways / Footpaths Scheme is ahead of target and 
a request is made to rephase budget back. 

(267) 

Page 26



22 
 

Service Narrative 
Rephasing 
Requested 
£000s 

 N’Hoods 

Bowlee Free School - There have been some 
delays in the planning and construction process. 
As a result there are still elements of work to 
deliver in 2020/21 the remaining budget allocation 
will cover officer time and site surveys associated 
to future works for the Edgar Wood school and 
overall site development.  

96 

   Total Rephasing 13,285 

 

4.6.4 The following budget switches are requested to fund expenditure linked to the 

project delivery at Balderstone Park Development Scheme from 2020/21and 

2021/22 budget: 

2020/21 Budget Switch Request 

Service Scheme 

Budget 
Switches 

£000s 

Neighbourhoods Replacement Parks & Machinery (26) 

Neighbourhoods Waste Bin Replacement Programme (20) 

Neighbourhoods Section 106 Environmental Management 46 

 

2021/22 Budget Switch Request 

Service Scheme 

Budget 
Switches 

£000s 

Neighbourhoods Kirkholt Investment (6) 

Neighbourhoods Additional Highways Funding (78) 

Neighbourhoods Section 106 Environmental Management 84 

 

4.6.5 Capital Receipts 

Capital receipts are received on the sale of various assets including land, 

buildings and vehicles. The final movements in the Capital Receipts Reserve 

during 2020/21, and provisionally for 2021/22 to 2022/23 are included in the 

table below. 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



23 
 

Description 
2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

 
£000’s 

 
£000’s 

 
£000’s 

Capital Receipts balance as at 1st April 2020 11,142 10,867 1,426 

Use of Capital Receipts to fund 2020/21 Capital 
Programme, including prior year schemes rephased 
into 2020/21 

(2,193) - - 

Use of Capital Receipts to fund provisional 2021/22 
and 2022/23 Capital Programmes, and 2020/21 
rephasing into future years 

- (7,722) (44) 

Earmarked use of receipts to fund other future 
commitments  

- (3,970) - 

Capital Receipts income 1,918 2,251 1,726 

Capital Receipts balance as at 31st March 2021 10,867  1,426  3,107  

 

4.6.6 The forecast uncommitted Capital Receipts Reserve balance as at the end of 

2022/23 is £3,107k. 

4.7 Collection Fund 

4.7.1 The Collection Fund outturn position for 2020/21 is a deficit of 
£24,955k, comprising: 

 

 £21,822k deficit relating to Business Rates, partially offset by 

Section 31 grant of £21,151k; 

 £3,133k deficit relating to Council Tax. 

The 2020/21 Collection Fund has been significantly impacted by the impact of 

Covid-19 and Government initiatives. This will impact on the Council’s General 

Fund in 2021/22, and there is expected to be a longer term impact on the level 

of Business Rates and Council Tax income. 

4.7.2 Table 1 shows the 2020/21 Collection Fund outturn position, and the 

allocation between precepting authorities. 

   Table 1 – 2020/21 Collection Fund outturn deficit 

 Business  
Rates 
£’000 

Council 
Tax 
£’000 

Total 
£000 

Outturn Collection Fund deficit at 31/03/2021 21,822 3,133 24,955 

Preceptors’ Share of 2020/21 final outturn    

Rochdale BC 21,604 2,650 24,254 

GMCA Mayoral Police & Crime Commissioner - 336 336 

GMCA Mayoral General (incl. Fire Service) 218 147 365 

Total Outturn (surplus)/Deficit 21,822 3,133 24,955 

 

The Council’s share of the 2020/21 Collection Fund deficit is £24,254k, which 

is partially offset by Government Section 31 grant funding of £20,939k, 

leaving a net deficit position of £3,315k.  

Page 28



24 
 

The following table provides the explanation of variances relating to Business 

Rates: 

Explanation of variance 

Variation 
to 

budget, 
£'000 

Decreased net Business Rates income principally due to the government 
decision to give 100% relief to the Retail, Leisure and Hospitality sectors for 
2020/21, linked to the Covid19 pandemic; Section 31 grant to offset the 
discount given is received in the Council's General Fund. There have been 
reduced levels of gross income and higher levels of discount given, linked to 
the impact of the pandemic.  

22,235 

Increased charge relating to the bad debt provision due to the likely impact 
of Covid19 on debt collection. 

385 

Actual surplus brought forward from 2019/20 is £766k higher than had been 
forecast as part of the 2020/21 Budget process.  

(766) 

Minor variations to budget re provision for rateable value revaluations, and 
Renewable Energy income 

(32) 

2020/21 Outturn Deficit 21,822 

 

The following table provides an explanation of variances relating to Council 

Tax: 

Explanation of variance 

Variation 
to 

budget, 
£'000 

Reduced level of discounts given partially offset by reduced Council Tax 
income raised. 

(218) 

Increased level of Local Council Tax Support discount given due to 
increased numbers of claimants, partially offset by government Hardship 
Funding. 

795 

Increased charge relating to the bad debt provision as a result of anticipated 
impact of Covid-19 on debt collection. 

942 

A deficit of £937k brought forward from 2019/20 instead of the £677k surplus 
forecast as part of the 2020/21 Budget process. This was mainly due to the 
decision to increase the level of the Bad Debt provision as a consequence of 
the likely impact of Covid19. 

1,614 

 3,133 

 

The Council’s 2021/22 General Fund budget, set at 3rd March 2021 Budget 

Council, included an estimated 2020/21 Collection Fund net deficit of £5,243k; 

this deficit is to be spread over the three financial years 2021/22 to 2023/24 

and will be partially offset by government funding to compensate local 

authorities for loss of income.  

The difference between the estimated 2020/21 deficit and the actual 2020/21 

deficit will be held in the Collection Fund in 2021/22, and impact on the 2022/23 

General Fund. 

Page 29



25 
 

4.9 Alternatives considered 

4.9.1 Not reporting on financial performance puts at risk the achievement of the 

Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan. Effective budget management is critical 

to ensuring financial resources are spent in line with the budget and are 

targeted towards the Council’s priorities. Monitoring enables the early 

identification of variations against the plan and facilitates timely corrective 

action. 

 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

The main body of the report provides a detailed analysis of the 2020/21 
Finance Outturn position. 

 
 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. There are no significant legal implications arising as a result of this Report to 

the Cabinet and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, but it should 
be noted that debts, which are recoverable, can be enforced by Court action in 
accordance with the Court Procedure Rules. 

 
The impact of Covid-19 pressures relating to additional expenditure and lost 

income is estimated to have a very significant impact on the Council’s financial 

position both in 2020/21 and in the medium term. The Council has completed a 

review of its reserves to assess whether some of the financial pressure may be 

mitigated in both the short and longer term. The use of reserves to address 

pressures as a result of the Covid-19 outbreak is a one off solution which cannot 

be sustained in the long term. The Council has indicated that any reserves 

deployed would require replenishing to their original value. The Council is 

continuing to lobby the government to provide further funding to offset the 

pressures. 

Unresolved appeals against the revaluation assessments for 2010 and 2017 

cause uncertainty and financial risk for the Business Rates income retained by 

the Council. The situation is monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that any 

changes in the trend for successful appeals are recognised due to the future 

impact on Business Rates income and the impact for the provision for any 

backdated elements. 

 The Valuation Office Agency (VOA) alters rating assessments if new 

information comes to light indicating that the valuation is inaccurate. These 

could relate to a demolition, new property builds or other physical changes to a 

property. The number of alterations, financial impact and timing of the 

revaluations are not within the control of the Council. There is an on-going risk 

Page 30



26 
 

that issues decided nationally by the VOA could potentially impact on Rochdale 

BC’s Business Rates income. 

 The future level of collection of Corporate Debt, Business Rates and Council 

Tax debt is a potential financial risk, particularly with the impact of the Covid-19 

pandemic. Collection performance is being monitored on a monthly basis to 

ensure that debt is recovered as efficiently and effectively as possible, whilst 

making adjustments to reflect the current circumstances being imposed on 

businesses and residents, and so that any trends may be highlighted and action 

taken as necessary, at the appropriate time. Debt collection is affected by the 

impact of Covid-19 both in this financial year and future years, and the 2020/21 

bad debt charges and provisions have been increased to reflect the increased 

risk of non-collection. 

 

Consultation 

 
7. All services engage with the production of the directorate based financial 

information within this report. The Leadership Team, the Leader, Cabinet 

Member for Corporate Delivery, and Opposition Portfolio holder for Finance 

have been informed of the  2020/21 financial position of the Council and its 

implications for future years. The report has been presented to the Corporate 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 22nd June 2021. 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

8. For further information about this 

report or access to any 

background papers contact 

Samantha Smith 

No1 Riverside Floor 2  

For Further Information Contact: Samantha Smith, Samantha.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk  

Tel : 01706 924198 

  

Page 31

mailto:Samantha.Smith@rochdale.gov.uk


27 
 

Appendix A – Revenue Budget ‘Variations to budget’ narrative – March 2021 

 
 
Service Narrative 

Budget 
£'000s 

Final 
Spend 
£’000s 

Variance 
£’000s 

Adult Care 
Management :-  In-year pressures relating to staffing, Service Level Agreements 
and ICT costs 

(7,946) (7,898) (48) 

  
Neighbourhoods:-  There has been in year savings against Neighbourhoods due 
to a combination of one off  additional funding and residential placements 
remaining lower than normal in the main due to Covid-19 

41,107 40,256 851 

  
Boroughwide Services:- Pressures from higher costs commissioned places for 
service users 

3,999 4,082 (83) 

  In House Provider Services:-  In-year saving due to staff turnover 951 560 391 

  
Governance Business Support & Home Improvement Agency:- In-year saving due 
to staff turnover 

845 706 139 

  Commissioning:-   In year pressure from delay in achievement of savings from 
Prevention contracts, mitigated by savings elsewhere in the service 

2,306 2,416 (110) 

  Adult Care Variation to Budget  41,262 40,122 1,140 

Children's  

Cared for Children: - The in year saving  is related to Cared for Children’s 
numbers which compared to prior year have reduced. The service have grown the 
number of internal foster carers and this has helped support a reduction in the 
number of external higher cost placements, this is a great achievement for the 
service given the significant demand pressures they have experienced as a result 
of the impact of the pandemic. 

26,370 26,126 244 

  
Practice Improvement: - Underspend largely due to one off savings related to 
current vacant posts/delays in recruitment and additional income achieved on 
Assessed and Supported Year in Employment (ASYE). 

2,021 1,767 254 

  Early Help/Sure Start:- Savings in relation to vacant posts and delays in 
recruitment, the service have been through the process of a restructure 

4,850 4,734 116 

  
School Support: - Overachievement of income on Personnel and Governors 
Service and underspends on bus passes. 

(4,094) (4,353) 259 

P
age 32



28 
 

 
 
Service Narrative 

Budget 
£'000s 

Final 
Spend 
£’000s 

Variance 
£’000s 

  
Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND):- Underspend in relation to the 
impact and limitations of Covid-19 restrictions on service delivery for example 
short breaks have still continued but have been delivered in different formats. 

6,631 6,431 200 

  
Youth Service: - In year savings re vacant posts and activities as events cannot 
happen in the same format due to Covid-19. 

59 (46) 105 

  

High Needs Block - Pressure due to the full year impact of 2019/20 growth of 
Education Health Care Plans and the continued growth within 2020/21. Rochdale 
special schools are now at full capacity so all future requests for places will result 
in out of borough Independent schools which is a high cost provision. The service 
and schools are working together to increase in-borough provision.  

0 1,822 (1,822) 

  Contribution from DSG Reserve: - 2019/20 High Needs deficit £3.3m, the 
cumulative deficit position as at the 31st March 2021 is £5.1m. 

1,822 0 1,822 

  Children's Services Variation to Budget  37,659 36,481 1,178 

Economy 
Planning & Building Control: - In-year savings due to higher than anticipated 
Planning Fee income in the final quarter of 2020/21, resulting in £0.240k being 
placed in the Planning Income Smoothing Reserve. 

307 302 5 

  

Economic Development: - In-year pressure due to performance of the Rochdale 
Riverside Retail and Leisure Centre being severely affected by the Covid-19 
pandemic from opening in April 2020.  The Council has been able to apply 
available funding to mitigate some level of pressure; the remaining pressure 
relates to the operational costs of the car park being higher than anticipated. 

2,746 2,866 (120) 

  
Properties: - In-year savings as a result of additional rental income from within 
Commercial and Industrial Estates and revenue income from the disposal of 
Capital Assets. 

702 542 160 

P
age 33



29 
 

 
 
Service Narrative 

Budget 
£'000s 

Final 
Spend 
£’000s 

Variance 
£’000s 

  

Property Growth Fund: - The Fund has shifted focus in this financial year from the 
acquisition of commercial property to bringing forward development opportunities 
within the borough, with the primary purpose of regeneration.  This has meant 
levels of investment to date are lower than was estimated at the Fund’s inception, 
and levels of return are lower than budgeted as a consequence.  Net yield on 
actual investments made remains on target across the portfolio with the exception 
of one development scheme, where a deficit was expected in the early years of 
operation.  Contributions to earmarked reserves have also been increased from 
levels previously reported in order to prudently provide for expected costs 
inherent in the early years of new developments, and this has increased the 
variance reported above. 

(1,986) (1,080) (906) 

  Economy Services Variation to Budget  1,769 2,630 (861) 

Finance 
Control 

 Interest - Continued internal borrowing and rephasing the Capital Programme 
offset by reduced investment income 

 7,151 6,383  768 

   Debt Repayment:- Small ad hoc variances  14,297 14,345  (48) 

 Other Income:- Additional rental income received (3,409) (3,474) 65 

 
Finance Control:- Redundancy costs/ill health retirements in excess of the budget 
allowance and other minor variations 

112 567 (455) 

  Finance Control Variation to Budget 18,151 17,821 330 

N’hoods Dippy Project:- In year saving as project has now ended (797) (822) 25 

  Waste Disposal Levy: - Small in year saving relating to the final adjustment of the 
2019/20 waste disposal charge from the GMCA. 

12,839 12,819 20 

  
Facilities Management:-   In year saving due to staff vacancies within School 
Trading Accounts and Number One Riverside 

2,961 2,742 219 

  Environmental Management: - In-year saving due to staff vacancies within the 
Streets and Ground care teams and a saving arising from lower than anticipated 

9,975 9,717 258 

P
age 34



30 
 

 
 
Service Narrative 

Budget 
£'000s 

Final 
Spend 
£’000s 

Variance 
£’000s 

borrowing costs following rephasing of the vehicle replacement invest to save 
scheme. 

  ICT Service :- Small pressure due to increase in software licences  4,314 4,326 (12) 

  
Coroners :-    In-year saving due to delay in scanning project and reduced activity 
in the service 

632 548 84 

  
Community & Townships: -   In-year saving due to staff vacancies within Libraries, 
Community Safety and Townships. 

3,505 3,422 83 

  Public Protection: - In year saving of £61k due to vacancies and £38k saving on 
planned project work on fees which is now being undertaken by GMCA. 

510 411 99 

  
Policy, Performance & Improvement:- Small pressure due to spend on 
subscriptions 

382 394 (12) 

  
Communications Team :- Small in-year saving due to cancellation of staff awards 
event 

523 515 8 

  Customer Access :- In year saving due to efficiencies in contact centre 1,575 1,506 69 

  Strategic Housing: - Small pressure due to emergency accommodation costs. 1,936 1,966 (30) 

  
Highways & Engineering: - in year saving in respect of a surplus on recharges to 
schemes. 

3,777 3,686 91 

  
Properties: - In year pressure due to under achievement of income £66k, deficit 
on charges to schemes £39k and an over spend on the service contract budget of 
£26k and other minor variations. 

512 648 (136) 

  Street Lighting: - in year saving in respect of energy. 2,696 2,628 68 

  Neighbourhoods Service Variation to Budget 45,340 44,506 834 

Public 
Health Sexual Health:- Reduced activity due to Covid-19 

1,648 1,568 80 

  NHS Health Checks:- National Diabetic Prevention Programme underspend 262 260 2 

  Public Health Advice:- Reduction in the GM Public Health Network costs  29 23 6 

P
age 35



31 
 

 
 
Service Narrative 

Budget 
£'000s 

Final 
Spend 
£’000s 

Variance 
£’000s 

  Obesity & Physical Activity:- Contribution to L4L Creative Strategy 544 576 (32) 

  Substance Misuse:- Reduced activity due to Covid-19 2,801 2,758 43 

  
Smoking & Tobacco:- Underspend on Public Health Investment within Public 
Protection 

6 0 6 

  
Children 0-19 Public Health:- Pressure from 19/20 CQUIN costs from Salford 
Royal Foundation Trust invoiced in 2020/21 

6,783 6,854 (71) 

  Other Public Health Commissioning:- Pressure from Covid-19 Staffing Costs 3,136 3,175 (39) 

  Health Protection:- Increase in number of Flu Jabs  (230) (224) (6) 

  Public Health Staffing & Non-Staffing:-  Underspend on staffing from Vacant posts 1,344 1,278 66 

  Client Services Link4Life:- Museum Store budget lower than rental costs 2,410 2,412 (2) 

  Public Health Variation to Budget 18,733 18,680 53 

Resources Finance Services: - In-year savings as a result of staff savings and additional 
income from Schools, offset by additional External Audit fees in 2020/21. 

1,854 1,846 8 

  

Other Managed Budgets: - In-year savings as a result of vacant posts at Head of 
Service level, plus other temporary arrangements and one-off savings in 2020/21.  
The outturn variance includes a budget carry forward request to fund additional 
work by the Transformation Team in 2021/22. 

4,416 4,322 94 

  
Revenues and Benefits: - In-year savings as a result of one off New Burdens 
funding from Central Government for staffing and software costs that were not 
required in 2020/21. 

2,106 1,763 343 

  Legal Services: - Pressure within the Shared Legal Service with Manchester City 
Council which is currently under discussion with partners. 

1,821 2,348 (527) 

  

Human Resources: - The final outturn variance includes savings from staffing and 
the Occupational Health Contract which have contributed to a budget carry 
forward request for the i-Trent Payroll System.  The balance is being mitigated 
from savings elsewhere within the Directorate. 

1,773 1,777 (4) 

P
age 36



32 
 

 
 
Service Narrative 

Budget 
£'000s 

Final 
Spend 
£’000s 

Variance 
£’000s 

  Internal Audit: - In-year savings related to staffing. 519 462 57 

  
Governance: - In-year savings as a result of staff savings and reduced Mayoral 
activities in 2020/21 due to Covid-19. 

1,752 1,660 92 

  Resources Service Variation to Budget 14,241 14,178 63 

 Total Variation to Revenue Budget - 2020/21 (Underspend) 2,737 

 

 

  

P
age 37



33 
 

Appendix B – Capital Spend by Scheme as at March 2021 

 

Service Scheme 

 
2020/21 
budget, 
£’000s  

 2020/21 
Outturn, 
£’000s  

 
Variation, 
£’000s  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£’000s  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£’000s  

 Total 
budget, 
£’000s  

Adult Care Springhill Renovations          39  39  -    -    -    39  

Adult Care Better Care Fund 205  188  17  363  -    568  

Adult Care Disabled Facilities Grant 2,084  1,864  220  3,609  2,633  8,326  

Adult Care   2,328  2,091  237  3,972  2,633  8,933  

Children's Aiming High For Disabled Child 1,683  1,683  -    -    -    1,683  

Children's Aiming High For Disabled Child -    -    -    42  -    42  

Children's Devolved Formula Capital 1,260  814  446  483  483  2,226  

Children's Early Years Capital Grant 40  40  -    19  -    59  

Children's New Place Planning 3,020  3,687   (667)  33,700  5,200  41,920  

Children's Schools Access 14  14  -    -    -    14  

Children's Schools Cap Condition Programme 5,055  4,325  730  3,473  1,833  10,361  

Children's Healthy Pupils Capital Fund 16  16  -    -    -    16  

Children's Special Provision Capital Fund 7  14   (7)  600  -    607  

Children's CWD Residential Home -    -    -    1,114  -    1,114  

Children's   11,095  10,593  502  39,431  7,516  58,042  

Economy Definitive ROW Improvement Programme 54  -    54  -    -    54  

Economy River Roch Flood Storage 597  500  97  1,000  1,250  2,847  

Economy Rochdale Gateways Env. Programme 207  190  17  -    -    207  

Economy Stakehill Industrial Estate 1  5   (4)  50  -    51  

Economy Asset Development Fund 361  237  124  2,352  -    2,713  

Economy Property Growth Fund 2,202  1,973  229  20,150  15,000  37,352  

  Joint Services PIF 70  70  -    -    -    70  

Economy East Lancashire Railway 80  76  4  322  -    402  

P
age 38



34 
 

Service Scheme 

 
2020/21 
budget, 
£’000s  

 2020/21 
Outturn, 
£’000s  

 
Variation, 
£’000s  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£’000s  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£’000s  

 Total 
budget, 
£’000s  

Economy Lower Falinge -    -    -    4  -    4  

Economy Heywood South/Junction 19 20  43   (23)  2,744  -    2,764  

Economy Railway Strategy Park & Ride 106  73  33  200  -    306  

Economy Northern Gateway Feasibility & Study 210  185  25  335  -    545  

Economy Pennine Holl Lake Feasibility 16  23   (7)  30  -    46  

Economy Metrolink Feasibility -    -    -    50  -    50  

Economy Birch Fountain & Horse Trough-Middleton 22  -    22  -    -    22  

Economy East Lancashire Railway - Castleton Mast 500  20  480  750  -    1,250  

Economy SmithyBridge Railway Station -    -    -    400  -    400  

Economy Michael Faraday Avenue 500  391  109  -    -    500  

Economy Middleton Town Centre Phase 3 99  98  1  -    -    99  

Economy Town Centre East Feasibility 172  79  93  300  -    472  

Economy Town Hall Adaptation and Restoration 3,131  2,211  920  1,700  3,500  8,331  

Economy Rochdale Market 105  67  38  -    -    105  

Economy Town Hall Square PH2 330  317  13  634  2,200  3,164  

Economy Drake Street Phase 2 367  211  156  900  100  1,367  

Economy Town Centre Schemes 2016/17 2,830  1,922  908  50  -    2,880  

Economy Rochdale Town Centre 3 Year Strategy 472  220  252  450  -    922  

Economy Hopwood Hall Refurbishment 12  3  9  -    -    12  

Economy Town Centre Residential Strategy 1,367  1,106  261  2,200  -    3,567  

Economy Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 6,925  4,051  2,874  -    -    6,925  

Economy Milkstone Road Master Plan 94  44  50  1,997  -    2,091  

Economy Hey/Midd/Litt Town Centre Masterplans 45  44  1  120  -    165  

Economy   20,895  14,159  6,736  36,738  22,050  79,683  

Neighbourhoods Neighbourhoods Regen Scheme 215  215  -    -    -    215  

Neighbourhoods ICT Infrastructure Refresh Programme 530  458  72  494  444  1,468  

Neighbourhoods ICT Data Centre 162  162  -    -    -    162  

P
age 39



35 
 

Service Scheme 

 
2020/21 
budget, 
£’000s  

 2020/21 
Outturn, 
£’000s  

 
Variation, 
£’000s  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£’000s  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£’000s  

 Total 
budget, 
£’000s  

Neighbourhoods ICT Programmes (Staff) 526  471  55  500  500  1,526  

Neighbourhoods Townships Capital Programme 78  40  38  260  400  738  

Neighbourhoods Housing Standards Fund 1,016  981  35  800  800  2,616  

Neighbourhoods Kirkholt Investment 223  217  6  -    -    223  

Neighbourhoods New Cemetery Sites 74  74  -    640  -    714  

Neighbourhoods Replacement Parks/Street Machinery 66  36  30  120  120  306  

Neighbourhoods Rights Of Way 88  41  47  80  80  248  

Neighbourhoods Rochdale Cemetery Lodge Repair 148  82  66  28  -    176  

Neighbourhoods Section 106 - Environmental Management 552  421  131  1,621  -    2,173  

Neighbourhoods Townships Capital - Env Management 142  68  74  106  -    248  

Neighbourhoods Upgrade Play Equipment 128  129   (1)  231  75  434  

Neighbourhoods Vehicle Replacement Programme 1,170  1,170  -    2,261  1,839  5,270  

Neighbourhoods Waste Bin Replacement Programme 300  280  20  360  360  1,020  

Neighbourhoods Asset Management Group 2,300  1,976  324  1,750  1,750  5,800  

Neighbourhoods Local Transport Plan 2,912  2,539  373  1,967  1,967  6,846  

Neighbourhoods Townships Capital - Highways 583  134  449  150  -    733  

Neighbourhoods Burglary Reduction Scheme 100  100  -    100  100  300  

Neighbourhoods Energy Efficiency Schemes 84  84  -    -    -    84  

Neighbourhoods Coroners Service accommodation 590  497  93  -    -    590  

Neighbourhoods Additional Highways Funding 219  141  78  -    -    219  

Neighbourhoods J19 Feasibility 5,540  4,782  758  23,032  -    28,572  

Neighbourhoods TFGM Grants 2  2  -    -    -    2  

Neighbourhoods Developer Contributions 114  31  83  -    -    114  

Neighbourhoods Beelines Award 184  184  -    -    -    184  

Neighbourhoods Property Transfers From Townships 42  42  -    -    -    42  

Neighbourhoods GM Full Fibre Programme 892  892  -    926  -    1,818  

Neighbourhoods Service Desk System Replacement -    -    -    110  50  160  

P
age 40



36 
 

Service Scheme 

 
2020/21 
budget, 
£’000s  

 2020/21 
Outturn, 
£’000s  

 
Variation, 
£’000s  

 
2021/22 
budget, 
£’000s  

 
2022/23 
budget, 
£’000s  

 Total 
budget, 
£’000s  

Neighbourhoods Compulsory Purchase Order Programme 489  162  327  1,300  1,430  3,219  

Neighbourhoods Travellers Authorised Stopping Site 70  24  46  -    -    70  

Neighbourhoods Climate Emergency 50  31  19  1,000  1,000  2,050  

Neighbourhoods Car Parking Machines 17  8  9  -    -    17  

Neighbourhoods N1R Revolving Doors -    -    -    120  -    120  

Neighbourhoods Allotments 2017-18 Manifesto Funding 50  6  44  123  -    173  

Neighbourhoods Accelerated Housing 150  39  111  1,250  650  2,050  

Neighbourhoods Affordable Housing 2,752  427  2,325  -    -    2,752  

Neighbourhoods Customer Transformation Programme 725  446  279  650  -    1,375  

Neighbourhoods CCTV Upgrade -    -    -    172  -    172  

Neighbourhoods Library Self Service 70  50  20  -    -    70  

Neighbourhoods Extended Library Hours -    -    -    150  -    150  

Neighbourhoods GM Air Quality Monitoring Station 52  44  8  -    -    52  

Neighbourhoods N1R Utilisation 70  -    70  -    -    70  

Neighbourhoods Town Centre Signage 62  62  -    -    -    62  

Neighbourhoods Highway Investment Programme 5,215  5,482   (267)  1,600  1,320  8,135  

Neighbourhoods Bowlee Free School 200  104  96  1,184  -    1,384  

Neighbourhoods 28,952  23,134  5,818  43,085  12,885  84,922  

Public Health Link4Life Capital Project -    -    -    4,616  360  4,976  

Public Health -    -    -    4,616  360  4,976  

Resources New HR & Payroll System 154  154  -    -    -    154  

Resources Manchester Airport 3,740  3,740  -    -    -    3,740  

Resources Investment Fund -    -    -    1,500  -    1,500  

Resources 3,894  3,894  -    1,500  -    5,394  

                

Total Capital Outturn Position at March 2021 67,164  53,871  13,293  129,342  45,444  241,950  

 

P
age 41



37 
 

Appendix C – Collection Fund 

Business Rates 

The 2020/21 final outturn position relating to Business Rates is a deficit of 

£21,822k.  

Description Budget 
2020/21 
Outturn 

(Surplus)/  
Deficit 

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 
movement 
from 
previous 
update 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Gross income (87,190) (86,099) 1,091 691 

Net Small Business Rate relief 7,682 8,390 708 90 

Mandatory Charitable relief 4,354 4,282 (72) (18) 

Discretionary relief 1,983 22,718 20,735 (442) 

Empties & Part Occupied relief 3,614 3,387 (227) (613) 

Net Income (69,557) (47,322) 22,235 (292) 

Less:          

Charge re bad debt provision 800 1,185 385 (1,347) 

Allowance for cost of collection 308 308 - - 
Provision for rateable value 
revaluations  3,932 3,901 (31) (31) 

Renewable energy schemes 582 581 (1) (1) 

Net yield (63,935) (41,347) 22,588 (1,671) 

2020/21 payments to preceptors/billing 
authority 63,935 63,935 - - 

In year (surplus)/deficit 0 22,588 22,588 (1,671) 

(Surplus)/deficit brought forward from 
2019/20 (1,103) (1,869) (766) - 
Payments to preceptors/billing 
authority re 2019/20 surplus per the 
2020/21 Budget process 1,103 1,103 - - 

Deficit as at 31/03/2021 0 21,822 21,822 (1,671) 

 

  

Page 42



38 
 

Council Tax 

 
Net Income Raised 
 
The 2020/21 final position relating to Council Tax is a deficit of £3,133k.  

2020/21 Council Tax Income 

Description Budget 
2020/21 
Outturn 

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

(Surplus)/ 
Deficit 

movement 
from 

previous 
report 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

INCOME         

Income from Council Tax (144,213) (143,966) 247 134 
Income from premium on Empty 
Properties (453) (626) (173) (49)  

Council Tax discounts  14,598 14,186 (412) 19 
Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
(LCTSS) 19,251 20,046 795 (494)  

Prior year adjustments 208 328 120 28 

Total income (110,609) (110,032) 577 (362) 

EXPENDITURE         

Charge re bad debt provision 2,212 3,154 942 240 

Total expenditure 2,212 3,154 942 240 

Net income to be raised for precept/ 
billing authority after LCTSS 
awarded (108,397) (106,878) 1,519 (122) 

2020/21 payments to Preceptors/billing 
authority 108,397 108,397 -  -  

In year (surplus)/deficit -  1,519 1,519 (122) 

(Surplus)/deficit brought forward from 
2018/19 (677) 937 1,614 -  

Payments to preceptors re 2018/19 
surplus as per the 2019/20 Budget 
process 677 677 -  -  

Deficit as at 31/03/2021 -  3,133 3,133 (122) 

 

  

Page 43



39 
 

Appendix D  

1. Treasury Management 

1.1 The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 

Management in Local Authorities. The Code recommends reporting on 

Treasury Management activities as part of the year-end process. 

Treasury Management activity aims to effectively manage the Council’s cash 

flow requirements through borrowing and investment. The service operates 

within CIPFA’s Prudential Code and the approved Treasury Management 

Strategy to ensure risk is appropriately managed when seeking to minimise the 

costs of borrowing and maximise returns on investment. 

1.2 Table 1 below summarises the borrowing activity of the Council throughout 

the year showing the types of loan, the average interest rate and the average 

length of maturity of each class of loan.  

Table 1 Borrowing  

   New         

 Balance  Borrowing Repayments Balance Average Average 

Debt Type 
at 

01/04/20 
to 

31/03/21 to 31/03/21 
to 

31/03/21 Rate Maturity 

  £M £M £M £M % Years 

Fixed Rate Debt             

              

PWLB Debt 
       

109.472                  -    (6.838) 
       

102.634  
             

2.49  10.89 

              

Market Debt 
       

120.000                  -                    -    
       

120.000  
             

4.41  45.76 

              

Other Debt 
           

0.303                  -    (0.058) 
           

0.245  
                

-    1.97 

              

Total Fixed Rate 
Debt 229.775                 -    (6.896) 222.879 

             
3.44  29.69 

 

1.3 External borrowing at 31/03/21 totalled £222.879m. No additional borrowing 

was taken during the year. 

The Council incurred total interest costs on its borrowing portfolio net of 

contributions from Invest to Save Schemes of £6.383m compared to its revised 

estimate of £7.116m - a saving of £0.733m.  

1.4 The Council’s Capital Financing Requirement at the end of the year is £455m. 

Adjusted to remove PFI debt and externally managed debt, the Council’s 

Borrowing Requirement at year end is estimated at £362m.  Deducting actual 

Page 44



40 
 

borrowing from this figure shows that the Council is currently internally 

borrowing by £139m.  

1.5 A borrowing policy was developed for 2021/22 which supports the decision 

making around the level of internal borrowing which is used to support spend 

in the capital programme. 

1.6 The Treasury Management Strategy details a number of Prudential       

Indicators which the Prudential Code requires the Council to manage and report 

on. The indictors are as follows: 

 Maturity Periods of Borrowing 

 Debt Boundaries and Limits 

 

1.7 Maturity Periods of Borrowing 

The maturity structure of fixed interest borrowing should enable the maturity of 

loans across a range of years so that the Council will not be exposed to a 

requirement for large amounts of repayment at a particular time. This needs 

balancing against the requirement for certainty of costs to secure budgets going 

forward and the desire to secure the best possible rates. The Prudential Code 

requires the Council to place upper and lower ranges on maturity. 

Table 2 Period of Maturity 

 Upper Lower Actual 

Period of Maturity Limit Limit to Date 

        

Under 12 months 60% 0% 3.4% 

Between 12 & 24 months 60% 0% 3.1% 

Between 2 & 5 years  60% 0% 9.4% 

Between 5 & 10 years  70% 0% 12.0% 

Over 10 years  100% 25% 72.1% 

 

1.8 Debt Boundaries & Limits 

The Council’s Operational Boundary (the limit which borrowing should not 

normally exceed) in 2020/21 (adjusted for PFI projects and externally 

managed debt) was £545m. The Authorised Limit (a control on our maximum 

level of borrowing) was £672m. Current borrowing (adjusted for PFI and other 

debt related long term liabilities) is £316m – comfortably within the approved 

limits.  

1.9 Investments  

The level of investments held at 31/03/21 was £120.9m which compares to 

£116.6m last year. The Council earnt £0.245m on its short-term investments 

compared to an initial target of £0.338m. This target was set before the 

reduction in base rate from 0.75% to 0.1% at the start of the pandemic. Higher 

Page 45



41 
 

average balances have offset the rate cut to some extent. The average rate of 

return was 0.23% compared to the standard performance indicator (7 day 

LIBOR) which averaged 0.05%.   

1.10 Investments represent surplus cash as a result of timing differences between 

receipt of funds and related expenditure which creates earmarked reserves and 

balances held for future need. The Council’s main treasury investment priority 

continues to be the security of capital followed by liquidity and yield / return. 

The Treasury Management Team aims to achieve the optimum return 

commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity. All investments made 

in the year were with counterparties with strong credit ratings and adhered to 

the limits (duration and amount with each institution) specified in our Treasury 

Management Strategy. 

1.11  The relative percentages of the investment portfolio held on 31st March 2021 

are detailed in table 3 by credit rating, investment type, institutions and maturity. 

Table 3 Investment Portfolio 

Credit Rating  Type of Investment 

Fitch Credit 
Rating 

Amount 
£m %   Investments Types 

Amount 
£m % 

AAA 56.9 47.0  

Fixed Term Bank 
Deposits 23.0 19.0 

AA- 10.0 8.3  

Fixed Term Authority 
Deposits 21.0 17.4 

A+ 28.0 23.2  Notice Accounts 17.0 14.1 

LAPA* 21.0 17.4  Call and Overnight 3.0 2.5 

A- 5.0 4.1  Money Market 56.9 47.0 

Total 120.9 100.0  Total 120.9 100.0 

 

*Local & Police Authorities – don’t usually have a credit rating 

Usually seen as similar or a notch below UK rating so AA- or AA+ 

 

Institutions  Maturity 

Institutions:  
Amount 
£m %  Maturing: 

Amount 
£m %  

UK Banks 54.0 44.7  Instant Call 59.9 49.6 

Rest of the World 
Banks 10.0 8.3  Less than 1 Month 0.0 0.0 

European Banks 0.0 0.0  1-3 Months 15.0 12.4 

Money Market 
Funds 56.9 47.0  3-6 Months 46.0 38.0 

Total 120.9 100.0  6 Months to 1 Year 0.0 0.0 

    Over 1 Year 0.0 0.0 

    Total 120.9 100.0 

 

Page 46



 

Report to Cabinet 

 

 

Date of Meeting 29 June 2021 
Portfolio Adult Care and Wellbeing 
Report Author Steve Blezard 
Public/Private Document Public 

 

 

Careline Policy 
 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1.1 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.4 

The Careline service is a community alarm service provided by Rochdale 
Council’s Adult Care Service, with a contracted provider (Eldercare) delivering 
the monitoring and response elements of the service. 
 
Careline is a fully chargeable discretionary service, but one which supports 
the Prevention offer within Adult Care and which national evidence suggests 
can prevent or delay the need for other care and support services. 
 
There are currently approx. 1,600 people who purchase the service and the 
aim is to increase take-up over the coming years.  There are options for 
service users to buy Careline type services from the private sector, although 
none of these locally currently offer the option of a mobile responder, which 
the service we provide does, however, we need to ensure that our service 
offer is competitive with those within the private sector, both from a cost and 
quality perspective. 
 
Providing information on our service is essential to attract new service users 
and also to ensure those currently buying the service from us have clarity and 
transparency as to the benefits and limitations.  We need to develop formal 
terms and conditions, but prior to this, we are required to have an approved 
formal policy in place. 
 

Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the draft Careline policy is considered and approved to go out for public 

consultation.   
 
2.2 Following consultation, members agree any issues or changes arising from 

consultation, be delegated to the Director of Adult Care in consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder. 

 
  

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 
 
 
 
 
 
3.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.3 
 
 
 
3.4 
 
 
 
 

Custom and practice has determined how we have made decisions and 
delivered the Careline service in recent years.  We have developed decision 
making through learning from complaints, good practice guidance from the 
Telecare Services Association (TSA) and sharing information and 
experience with other local authorities and providers of similar services.   
 
During 2020, the Careline service expanded significantly to take on service 
users living in Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) Independent Living 
Schemes (ILS), when RBH ceased their mobile response service.  This 
significant increase in service users has led to a review of the service to 
ensure it is functioning as efficiently as possible to deliver services for an 
expanded customer base.  Terms and conditions for service users has been 
identified as a key area in terms of establishing expectations at the outset 
and in order to develop formal terms and conditions, an approved policy is 
required. 
 
There are increasing challenges from service users and their carers/families 
around lack of clarity and formal terms and conditions in respect of the 
service, particularly around costs, payment terms and mobile response. 
 
The attached policy, along with the attached associated draft working 
document procedure has been developed to incorporate all aspects of the 
Careline service, taking account of any related policies, best practice and 
existing custom and practice. 
 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.1 
 
 
 
 

The table below provides a summary of the key issues within the policy, 
which are either different to how we currently operate, or likely to be areas of 
greatest challenge.  The full Policy and draft working document procedure 
can be found at Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 respectively.  

Item 
number 

Summary Issues of note  

4.  Eligibility 
to apply  

Must live within the borough  
Cannot use the service for 999 
only response 
Peripheral linked devices will only 
be provided following an 
assessment   

Some people don’t want to pay for a 
response service, but want the 
monitoring centre to call an ambulance if 
they press their alarm. 

5.  Service 
requirement 

Must be willing and able to pay by 
Direct Debit (DD) 
Must have at least one nominated 
responder to be eligible for the 
basic Careline service 
 

Some service users don’t wish to pay by 
DD but it is a requirement in the Adult 
Care charging policy and allows the 
service to be managed more effectively 
in terms of debt management. 

6.  
Installation 

In cases where there is no 
landline telephone, a unit with a 
SIM card will be installed with 

SIM costs are an additional £1.50 per 
week, which some service users object 
to.  These costs are similar to those they 
would incur if they have a landline. 

Page 48



additional costs chargeable to the 
service user 

9.  Moving 
and Handling 
 

Moving and Handling (M&H) risk 
assessment in place with 
Eldercare – if the service user  
fails the risk assessment, mobile 
responders will not lift them and 
instead will call for an ambulance 

Service users often complain if Eldercare 
won’t lift them.  The M&H risk 
assessment has been developed in 
conjunction with North West Ambulance 
Services and is reviewed annually by 
RBC M&H Senior practitioner and the 
Digitally Enabled Care Board. 

12.  debt 
recovery 

Service will be terminated if 
charges are not paid within a set 
timescale.   

There have been recent issues with non-
payment and service users not engaging.  
Any service users known to AC with care 
and support needs will be considered by 
a Locality Team Manager to determine 
capacity and risk in cancelling the 
service. 

17. ending 
the service 

Service is charged for until a 
formal request has been made to 
cancel, with no backdating of 
cancellation.  If equipment is not 
returned, it will be charged for if it 
is possible to recycle it. 

Issues with service users not officially 
cancelling the service and returning 
equipment.  A fee for unreturned 
equipment should help to alleviate this. 

 
 
 Alternatives Considered 

4.2 The alternative is to continue to have informal decision making around the 
delivery of the Careline service, using existing custom and practice, which is 
unhelpful when trying to respond to challenges and complaints. 

 
4.3 Not having a formal policy approved and in place could lead to the service 

failing to deliver and perform as strongly as possible, which could in turn lead 
to reduction in numbers of service users, or failure to attract sufficient new 
service users to make the financial model viable.   

 
 

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5.1 
 
 
5.2 

Careline is a fully chargeable service which is not subsidised by the Council, 
yet provides a much needed and valued local service. 
 
A report was approved by Cabinet on 9 February for the fees and charges for 
the service for 2021/22. 

 
 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6.1 The policy sets out the service offer and once approved, can be used to 

formalise the terms and conditions of the service, so that service users and 
their families are clear about what they can expect.  The risks to not having a 
formally approved policy in place are greater, as we are more open to 
challenge and the decision making could be inconsistent. 

 

Page 49



6.2 An equality impact assessment screening has been undertaken on the policy, 
as the majority of users are elderly or disabled, therefore, are more likely to be 
affected by the policy.  There are positive impacts for these protected groups 
in that RBC offers this discretionary service, which is very highly regarded.  
Some of the potentially negative impacts on these groups are in relation to 
terminating the service for non-payment of charges, or not being willing to pay 
by Direct Debit; the mobile responder not being able to lift someone following 
a fall if they don’t meet the criteria in the lifting assessment at that time. 

 
6.3 These would be mitigated by having full terms and conditions available for 

service users so that they fully understand the limitations of the service and 
their obligations at the outset; escalation in situations where service users 
can’t pay by direct debit, or haven’t paid their charges; mobile responders 
would remain with the service user until an ambulance arrives if they cannot 
be lifted. 

  

Consultation 

 
7.1 Consultation has been undertaken with staff from across Adult Care, 

Eldercare (contracted provider of the monitoring and response elements of 
the service), Rochdale Boroughwide Housing and the Finance Service, 
including Debt Recovery.  Their comments and suggestions have been 
incorporated into the policy.  The feedback has been extremely positive in 
respect of having a formal policy in place.  The policy has also been reviewed 
by Legal Services and any comments incorporated. 

 
7.2 Whilst the policy as a whole document hasn’t been consulted on with service 

users, some of the key elements have been part of a number of wider public 
consultations previously, particularly in respect of charging.  We also seek the 
views of service users at different times, as detailed in the policy under 
section 15 – annual review and section 16 - customer satisfaction, which have 
contributed to the writing of the policy. 

 
7.3 Further consultation will take place on the draft policy and any resulting 

changes will be delegated to the Director of Adult Care in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder. 

 
7.4 There will be an annual review of the policy and customer feedback will be 

used to inform and consider any appropriate or necessary changes. 
 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

8. There are no background papers, all 
relevant information is embedded in 
the attached proposed policy 
document. 

Not applicable 

 

For Further Information Contact: Kathryn Andrew 
Kathryn.andrew@rochdale.gov.uk 
Tel:  01706 924057 

 

Page 50

mailto:Kathryn.andrew@rochdale.gov.uk


 

 
 
 
 

Careline Service 

Policy 
 

 

Page 51



 
 

 

Document Control 
 

Document Title: Careline Service Policy 

 
Summary 

Publication Date TBC 

Related Legislation / 
Applicable Section of 
Legislation 

 Care Act 2014 
 Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment Regulations (LOLER) 1998 
 Equality Act 2010 
 Reliefs from VAT for disabled and older people (VAT Notice 701/7) 

Related Policies, Strategies, 
Guideline Documents 

 Charging Policy 
 Financial Hardship Policy 
 Equality and Diversity policy 
 Complaints policy 
 Careline procedure 
 Careline terms and conditions 
 Careline – information for service users 
 Adult Care Moving residents into a Care home placement 
 Corporate Debt policy and process 

Replaces n/a 

Joint Policy (Yes/No) No 

Name of Partner(s) if joint n/a 

Policy Owner 
(Name/Position) 

Helen Murphy (Head of Governance and Business Support) 

Policy Author 
(Name/Position) 

Kathryn Andrew (HIA Service Manager) 

Applies to 
All Careline service users and staff referring into and delivering the 
service. 

Review of Policy 

Last Review Date n/a 

Review undertaken by n/a 

Next Review Date 31/05/2022 

Document Approvals - This document requires the following approvals. 

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number 

Editorial Board EB  n/a 

SMT   n/a 

Portfolio holder   n/a 

ICB   n/a 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



 
 

 

 
Contents 
 
 

1. Executive summary 
2. Introduction 
3. Aims and objectives of the policy 
4. Eligibility to apply for the Careline service and peripheral linked equipment 
5. Service requirements 
6. Installation of equipment 
7. Alarm call monitoring service 
8. Mobile response service 
9. Moving and Handling  
10. Service standards 
11. Service charges 
12. Debt recovery 
13. Equipment testing 
14. Repair and maintenance 
15. Annual review 
16. Customer satisfaction 
17. Ending the service 
18. Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 
19. Complaints 
20. Appendices 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



 
 

 

1. Executive Summary  

1.1 This Policy sets out how the community alarm service also known as the Careline Service in Rochdale 
is delivered, including the provision of equipment and service, installation and removal, alarm call 
response, maintenance and charging.   

1.2 It provides clarity and transparency as to how the Council will deliver the Careline Service, along 
with the draft associated Careline working document procedure, which further details how the policy 
will be implemented.  

 

2. Introduction  

2.1 The Careline Service is a community alarm service and is a discretionary, fully chargeable and non-
subsidised service offered by Rochdale Borough Council, delivered within the Home Improvement 
Agency (HIA), which is part of the Adult Care Service.   

2.2 Community alarm services are part of a range of equipment services known as telecare and is the 

foundation for much of the assistive technology (AT) provision within the Borough.  A range of AT 

devices can be connected to the Careline unit, such as falls detectors, movement monitors, door 

monitors and bed occupancy sensors. 

 

2.3 There is evidence that the use of Careline with additional technology helps many people to retain 

their independence.  It improves safety at home, it reduces the number of events that can lead to 

hospital and care home admissions and provides reassurance to the people themselves and to their 

family/friends.  

 

2.4 We offer two levels of service: 

 The ‘basic’ Careline service, where the response centre operator would contact family and 

friends to respond to any alerts or requests for help and  

 The Careline Plus option, where the response centre operator would arrange for a mobile 

responder to visit in response to an alert or request for assistance.   

 

 

3. Aims and objectives of the service 
 
3.1   To improve the lives of elderly, vulnerable and disabled people by supporting them to remain 

independent and feel safe in their own home with the use of the Careline Service.   
 
3.2 To reduce the need for domiciliary and residential care by enabling elderly, vulnerable and disabled 

people to live more independently in their own homes.  
 
3.3 Helping people with long term conditions to live independently at home by supporting them to manage 

their own health and care 
 
3.4 To support person centred approaches and a strengths based model of care and support 
 
3.5 To provide advice, information and support regarding the Careline Service to meet individual needs.  
 
3.6 To treat individuals fairly, regardless of age, sex, gender, disability and sexual orientation, or any other 

protected characteristic within the Equality and Diversity Policy and to protect their rights under Data 
Protection and Human Rights legislation. 

 
 
 

Page 54



 
 

 

 
 

 

4. Eligibility to apply for the Careline Service and peripheral linked 
equipment  

 
4.1 All Careline applicants must live within the boundary of the Rochdale Borough, at an address 

registered for Council Tax purposes payable to Rochdale Council and complete a Careline application 
form at Appendix 1. 

 
4.2 The Careline service is not available for anyone wanting to use it as an option for a 999 emergency 

response only, without the nominated or mobile response option. 
 
4.3 Applicants who would like any linked peripheral devices such as smoke detector, property exit 

sensors etc, will need an assessment by a worker at initial point of contact in Adult Care, or an 
assessment worker within a locality team.  A referral would need to be sent to the Home 
Improvement Agency detailing the equipment needed and any specific instructions of how it is to be 
installed e.g. timings on occupancy sensors. 

 

5.  Service requirements 
 
5.1      The service user must be willing and able to pay for the service by Direct Debit. 

 
5.2      Careline requires an active telephone line and an electrical socket within close proximity to each other    
           (see 6.3 below for situations where there is no landline).   

 
5.3    An installation can only take place if both the telephone and electrical socket appear safe and in full    

  working order.  As the installers are not telephone engineers, or electricians, they can only make a   
visual judgement as to the safety of the telephone and electrical socket and installation of the 
equipment does not imply that either are in good condition. 

 
5.4     Applicants wishing to purchase the basic Careline Service must have at least one, ideally two 

nominated responders (usually close friends, relatives or neighbours), who are able (and have 
agreed) and willing to travel to their home within 30 minutes, as necessary, anytime of the day and 
night, 365 days of the year, to respond to their requests for help and support.  It is the applicant’s 
responsibility to notify any changes to the nominated responders details to the HIA.   

 
5.5 Applicants who do not have suitable nominated responders as described at 5.4 would need to have 

the Careline Plus option. 
 
5.6 Applicants who purchase the Careline Plus option will need to have a secure keysafe attached to 

the exterior of their property, in a suitable and accessible place for the mobile responder to be able 
to access a key to the property. Keysafe codes will not be provided to anyone other than Eldercare 
(to enable the mobile responder to access when attending), unless a keysafe 
declaration/authorisation form is signed by the service user.  The service user takes full 
responsibility for any access to their property, if they choose to share the code with family, friends, 
carers or others.  They are also responsible if the key is removed from the keysafe and is not there 
when Eldercare responders attend in an emergency, which may result in forced entry. 

 
5.7 If the Careline plus service is purchased for a family member who does not have mental capacity or 

is unable to sign the keysafe declaration form, the declaration form can be signed by the power of 
attorney or if the applicant gives verbal permission for a family member to sign on their behalf.   

 
5.8 Applicants who have shared access to their property and wish to access the Careline plus service, 

will need the agreement of their landlord, or managing agent and possibly other residents if a 
keysafe is to be placed outside the building which allows access to a shared entrance.  The HIA 
cannot fit a keysafe if permission is refused and are not responsible for challenging these decisions. 

Page 55



 
 

 

 
 

6.  Installation of equipment 
 
6.1 The Careline equipment (Careline unit and one linked pendant) is installed by a fully trained member 

of the Home Improvement Agency team (out of normal office hours, emergency installations will be 
undertaken by a mobile responder, working with our contracted provider – Eldercare). 

 
6.2 As the Careline equipment is installed to cover emergency situations, all other telephony equipment 

in the home of the service user are installed behind the Careline unit, so that no other devices can 
take priority on the telephone line ahead of the Careline unit e.g. the Careline unit will always be 
connected directly into the main line telephone socket, not into another device which is already 
plugged into the main line socket (with the exception of an internet filter).  This ensures that the 
Careline unit always has priority over any other device.   

 
6.3 In properties where there is more than one telephone (usually telephone extensions in separate 

rooms), a safe socket will need to be installed to ensure that the Careline unit always has priority over 
any of the lines.  The Safe Socket is used to ensure that alarm calls are raised even though the telephone 
line is in use. It allows the Careline unit to seize the phone line from other connected devices on the same 
line (i.e. extension phone, computer, fax machine, satellite receiver etc).  There is no additional charge for 
the safe socket. 

 
6.4 In situations where a service user doesn’t have a landline, it may be possible to install a different unit, 

which has an integrated SIM card within it.  This will enable it to search for the strongest signal from 
various providers, and connect to the strongest mobile phone network to enable a call to be made to 
the monitoring centre.  There is an additional charge for this type of service, see Section 11.  

 
6.5 In situations where the telephone socket or electrical plug socket are inaccessible due to furniture 

which is difficult to move, it is the responsibility of the service user to arrange for the area to be 
accessible prior to installation.  

 
6.6 In some cases, there can be issues with the Careline installation, due to the way in which broadband 

has been set up.  The Careline installers are not able to resolve all broadband issues and may have 
to refer the service user back to their broadband provider before the Careline service can be set up.   

 
6.7 The Home Improvement Agency would recommend all Careline Plus applicants to have a keysafe 

installed by the Council, which is police approved. Applicants choosing to use their own keysafe can 
do so, but at their own risk, as a non-police approved keysafe is less safe and could lead to the keysafe 
being broken into and an unauthorised person gaining access to the property.   

 
6.8 Where the Careline Plus applicant has installed their own keysafe, they must share the keysafe code 

with the Home Improvement Agency for the Mobile Responder and ensure that they have a spare key 
inside the safe at all times.  They must also inform the HIA of any changes they make to the keysafe 
code. 

 
6.9 If the Careline unit and peripheral equipment are disconnected and/or moved by the service user or 

their representative and reconnected incorrectly, they may not function effectively and RBC cannot 
be responsible for any failures of the service in these circumstances. 

  

7.  Alarm call monitoring service   
 
7.1 Rochdale Council has in place a contract with Eldercare to provide an alarm call monitoring service, 

which operates 24 hours per day, 365 days a year, which is regulated by the Telecare Services 
Association. 

 
7.2 The target for calls to be answered by the monitoring centre is 100% within 180 seconds, 95.5% within 

60 seconds and 80% within 30 seconds. 

Page 56



 
 

 

  
7.3 In situations where the call or alert is triaged for an emergency response from Fire/Police/Ambulance, 

Rochdale Council and the monitoring centre have no control over the speed of response, or any 
eventuality resulting from the speed of response. 

 
7.4 For Careline customers living in Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) Independent Living Schemes 

(ILS) all alerts will go through to the monitoring centre commissioned within the scheme by RBH.  This 
is currently provided by Tunstall and if they determine that a mobile responder is required, they will 
contact a dedicated number at Eldercare to arrange for the mobile responder to be dispatched.  RBH 
ILS tenants will pay the Careline charges directly to Rochdale Council and any costs associated with 
their monitoring by Tunstall will be paid by them to RBH. 

 
  

8. Mobile response service (Careline Plus) 
 

8.1 Rochdale Council has a contract in place with Eldercare to provide a mobile response service to 
operate 24 hours per day, 365 days a year. 

 
8.2 The monitoring centre will triage all calls to determine whether a mobile response is required. 
 
8.3 The target for the mobile responder is 100% within 45 minutes, 90% within 20-30 minutes and 70% 

in under 20 minutes.  This is the standard we would like to achieve, but on rare occasions it may take 
longer than 45 minutes, as sometimes, all mobile responders are supporting other customers and 
can’t leave them.  The control centre operator will keep service users informed and if appropriate, may 
ask if a family, friend or neighbour is able to respond more quickly in the interim. 

 
8.4 The service user has a responsibility to ensure that a key is in the keysafe at all times and the Council 

will have no responsibility to repair damage to doors due to mobile responders not having access to 
a key to enter the property and having to call the emergency services to gain access to respond to an 
alert through the monitoring centre. 

 

 

9. Moving and handling   
 
9.1 A moving and handling risk assessment (Appendix 2) is in place for the delivery of the mobile response 

service.  The risk assessment and policy are owned by the provider, currently Eldercare, however, it 
is accepted and supported by Rochdale Council as part of our contracting arrangements.   

 
9.2 Mobile responders will not attempt to lift a service user from the floor if they fail the moving and 

handling risk assessment.  The moving and handling risk assessment is carried out every time a 

mobile responder is called to a service user who has fallen.  If a service user has been lifted 

previously and passed the risk assessment, it does not automatically mean that they will pass it 

again on another occasion.  In situations where a service user is unable to be lifted by the Mobile 

responder as they have not met the criteria in the risk assessment, the control centre will usually 

request an ambulance to attend. 

9.3 The moving and handling risk assessment document and process will be reviewed annually and 

taken to the Technology Enabled Care Board for approval.  

9.4 Any requested changes to the moving and handling risk assessment by Eldercare will be reviewed 

by the Moving and Handling Advisor/OT Advanced Practitioner in Adult Care and taken to the 

Technology Enabled Care Board for approval. 

 

10.  Service standards 
 

Page 57



 
 

 

10.1 Requests for the Careline service to be installed will be responded to within 5 working days, unless it 
is part of an urgent package of care upon discharge from hospital, in which case, an installation will 
usually take place within 24-48 hours. 

 
10.2 In cases where a referral has been made and the service user or nominated contact are unable to be 

contacted after trying to speak to them on two separate occasions over two separate days, the referral 
will be closed and the appropriate letter sent as per the procedure.   

 
10.3 In cases where we contact a service user following a referral and they are uncertain as to whether 

they want to proceed with the service, we will close the referral down and advise them to contact us 
again if they decide at a later date they wish to purchase the service.   

 
10.4 The key performance indicators detailed in 7.2 and 8.3 are monitored on a monthly basis, in line with 

the contract and reported to the Technology Enabled Care Board. 
 
10.5 Customer satisfaction levels are monitored as detailed in Section 16, reported to the Technology 

Enabled Care Board and appropriate action is taken to improve the service as necessary. 
 

10.6 Rochdale Council are members of the Telecare Services Association (TSA) who are the 
representative body for technology enabled care (TEC) services, working on behalf of and 
advising organisations including telecare and telehealth providers, housing associations, care 
providers, emergency services, academia, charities, government bodies and health and social 
care commissioners.  This membership supports best practice and ensures our Careline service 
is delivered and develops in line with industry standards. 

10.7 Eldercare who are the contracted providers of monitoring and response are an accredited member of 
the TSA, which is an ongoing requirement of the contract Rochdale Council have with them. 

 

 11. Service charges 
 
11.1  Careline is a chargeable service, without exception and the Adult Care charging policy states that all 

Careline service users must usually pay by Direct Debit.   
 
11.2 The charges for the service are: 
  
 Careline basic service (family and friends respond) £3.10 per week 
 Careline Plus service (includes mobile response) £5.10 per week 
 Careline GSM service (mobile sim unit)  £1.50 per week in addition to either Careline 

basic or Careline plus 
 
 The Careline service can be provided in situations where more than one person in the same 

household needs the service, but only one charge will be made. 
 
11.3 If the Direct Debit form hasn’t been fully completed, providing all details necessary for the direct 

debit to be set up, the Careline installation will only proceed on the basis that a direct debit form is 
received within 14 days.  Cash payments will be set up in cases where a direct debit form hasn’t 
been provided at installation so that charges are not accruing during the first 14 days.  

 
11.4 In cases where the Direct Debit is subsequently cancelled or the Direct Debit fails, the service user 

will be contacted and given 14 days in which to reinstate the Direct Debit, or the Careline service will 
be terminated.  Any arrears must be cleared before the DD can be reinstated and the service 
restarted. 

 
11.5 Charges for the Careline service can be increased at any time during the financial year, with 

approval from Cabinet and by giving the service user at least 28 days notice in writing of the 

Page 58



 
 

 

increase.  For increases made at any other time than April, separate invoices would be issued for 
the increase, as the DD can’t be changed once it has been set up for the year. 

 
11.6 Charges can be paid monthly (2 weeks in arrears) or quarterly or annually in advance 
 

11.7 Charges will not be suspended, due to the service user being away from the property for any period 
of time, the service would need to be cancelled if no longer required. 

 
11.8 The charges are usually subject to VAT.  Service users who believe they meet the criteria for 

receiving the service without VAT will need to complete the VAT exemption form during the 
installation in line with the ‘Reliefs from VAT for disabled and older people (VAT Notice 701/7)’  

 

11.9 Careline charges can be claimed as disability related expenditure (DRE) as part of a financial 
assessment for RBC care and support charges, which may reduce the charges for other Adult Care 
Services, but Careline charges will always be payable. 

 
11.10 All equipment is provided on a loan basis, with the expectation that upon cancellation of the service, 

all equipment is returned in the same condition (subject to general wear and tear) and working order 
as it was initially installed.  Failure to return equipment may result in a charge of £100, if the 
equipment is less than 5 years old and suitable to be recycled. 

 
11.11 At initial installation, a Careline unit along with one pendant will be provided.  Lost pendants will be 

replaced once, but any subsequent request for a new pendant will incur a charge of £30. 
 
11.12 Service users are responsible for any costs from their telephone service or broadband provider 

incurred as a result of the Careline service equipment being used to call for assistance.  Service 
users are advised to check their package with their provider to ensure that they are aware of any 
potential costs of calls or alerts from the equipment. 

 
 
 

12. Debt recovery/service termination 
 

12.1 If a service user misses a payment, the usual corporate debt process will apply, which may differ, 
depending on whether the service user pays on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis.   

 
12.2 If no payment has been received following the reminders and court warning notice issues as part of 

the corporate debt process, the Careline team will try to make contact with the service user to 

determine whether they intend to bring their payments up to date and retain the service.  If the 

service user wishes to retain the service, they will need to bring their payments up to date with the 

debt recovery team and re-instate their direct debit as soon as possible.   

12.3 If no contact can be made, or the service user refuses to bring their payments up to date, the 

following will apply: 

 For service with no known care and support needs, the service will be terminated within 14 

days 

 For service users known to Adult Care, with previous or current care and support needs, or 

identified risks and vulnerabilities, a referral will be made to the appropriate locality team to 

assess whether the service user has capacity to choose not to pay for the service, taking into 

consideration their assessment and care plan and any risks in not continuing to have the 

Careline service.  The decision to terminate the Careline service will be signed off by a 

Locality Team Manager, or delegated member of the Locality Team.   

12.4 All cases where the service is cancelled due to non-payment or ongoing debt issues will be reported 

on the dashboard report to the Technology Enabled Care Board. 

Page 59



 
 

 

12.5 If Rochdale Council terminate the service, a letter will be sent out to advise that it is terminated and 

to try to make the arrangements for the return of the equipment.  If equipment isn’t returned within 

14 days, a charge of £100 will be made to cover the cost of the unrecovered equipment, if the 

equipment is less than 5 years old and suitable to be recycled. 

 

13. Equipment testing  
 

13.1 All service users are encouraged to make a test call every month. 
 
13.2 Careline service users are reviewed on a monthly basis and in cases where there hasn’t been any 

test calls, or any other calls or alerts made, during the previous 3 months, one of the Home 
Improvement Agency Team will contact the service user by telephone to advise them to make a test 
call. 

 
13.3 It remains the responsibility of the service user to make a test call on a regular basis and report any 

faults to the Home Improvement Agency Team. 

 
 

14.  Repair and maintenance   
 
14.1 All equipment installed as part of the Careline service remains the property of Rochdale Borough 

Council and is on loan to the service user. 
 
14.2 All equipment will be maintained by Rochdale Borough Council and repaired or replaced as necessary 

at no charge to the service user, unless wilful damage is indicated, or in the case of a lost pendant, 

which is chargeable as detailed at 11.11. 

14.3 If there is a fault on the telephone line, the Careline equipment is unlikely to work and Rochdale 

Council cannot be responsible for resolving any issues with faulty telephone lines.  This will be the 

responsibility of the service user to make contact with their telephone service provider. 

14.4 All faults with Careline equipment should be reported to Rochdale Council and wherever possible, 
will be responded to within 5 working days where the fault is affecting the emergency operation of 
the alarm.  Other faults not directly affecting the emergency operation of the alarm and the ability to 
call for help will be responded to within 10 working days.   
 

14.5 No refund will be given for the time taken to repair or replace the equipment. 

14.6 If equipment has a low battery the Home Improvement Agency will be notified by the monitoring centre 

(Eldercare) and will respond to all low battery alerts within 7 working days, to determine the issue and 

replace the battery, or equipment as necessary.  

 

15.  Annual review  
 
15.1 All Careline service users will be contacted on an annual basis, as part of our reviewing process. 
 
15.2 The review will cover payments/arrears, equipment testing, satisfaction and whether the service is 

fully meeting their needs.   
 
15.3 The annual review will be documented on Flare (Careline IT management system) and ALLIS (Adult 

Care case management system) and any necessary action taken. 

 

Page 60



 
 

 

 

16. Customer satisfaction  
 

16.1 Qualitative questions are asked as part of the annual review as detailed in Section 15, to determine 
overall levels of satisfaction with the service and quarterly reports produced for the Technology 
Enabled Care Board. 

 
16.2 A telephone call will be made to all new service users within 6 weeks of joining the service, to ascertain 

their satisfaction with the initial referral process, installation and acclimatisation. 
 
16.3 A telephone call will be made to a random sample of service users who have been recorded by 

Eldercare as having had a mobile response call out during the previous week, to determine their 
satisfaction with the monitoring centre triage and mobile response. 

 
 

17. Ending the service 
 

17.1 When the service user decides they no longer require the service, they must contact the Home 
Improvement Agency to arrange for the service to be cancelled and for the equipment to be collected. 

 
17.2 The service will be cancelled on the same day the request is received, but failure to return the 

equipment or facilitate its collection will result in a charge of £100 to cover the cost of the 

unrecovered equipment, if the equipment is less than 5 years old and suitable to be recycled.  

Cancellation will result in an account reconciliation where any arrears or refunds are calculated. 

17.3 The service will only be cancelled from the date the Home Improvement Agency are contacted, it 
cannot be backdated, unless there is written evidence that Adult Care were advised or aware on a 
previous date and failed to cancel the service.  In situations where the service user has died, the 
service will be cancelled on the date of their death.  

 
17.5 When a service users goes into residential placement or a long period of respite arranged by Adult 

Care, it is still the responsibility of the service user or their representative to notify us that they wish to 
cancel the service.  However, it is good practice for the worker arranging the placement to notify the 
Careline service, which is documented as part of the procedure. 

 
17.6 The service can be terminated by RBC if it is misused, or the mobile responders feel threatened in 

any way by unacceptable or inappropriate behaviours when responding to alerts.  Eldercare can 
refuse to continue to provide a service to an individual where they are concerned about the safety of 
their staff and feel there are inappropriate or unacceptable circumstances. There is no exhaustive 
list of situations where the service would be withdrawn, which would always be as a last resort, but 
some examples are violence or threatened violence towards staff, aggressive or intimidating 
behaviour from the service user, family members or other people in the property, drug and alcohol 
abuse which is deemed unacceptable for the mobile responders to deal with.   

  
17.7 In situations where the service user has died, the Executors of their estate will be responsible for 

any outstanding payments following reconciliation of the account. 

 

18. Data Protection Act 2018 and General Data Protection Regulations 
(GDPR) 
 

18.1 As part of the Careline service, we need to collect certain information to assist with the processing of 
applications and ongoing delivery of the service. This is covered under the Data Protection Act 2018 
and General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR). 

 

Page 61



 
 

 

18.2 A Privacy notice applies to this area of work and the information we will collect is as follows:  
 

 Name of applicant 

 Address of applicant 

 Relationship information 

 Contact details including land line, mobile phone and email details of applicant and any person 

nominated as a point of contact 

 Date of birth 

 Housing status – owner-occupier/ owner/ private rented/ social rented 

 Name and contact details for landlord and/or landlords agent (if living in a shared property or 

block of flats) 

 Medical information relevant to call triage 

 Bank account details 

 Ethnicity 

 Other information as specified on the application form 

 
18.3 As part of the Careline Service, information will need to be shared with other organisations, wherever 

applicable as follows: 
 

 Adult Social Care  

 Children’s Services 

 Heywood Middleton and Rochdale (HMR) NHS 

 RBC Legal Services 

 RBC Revenue Services including Council Tax 

 HMRC 

 Registered Social Housing Providers  

 Eldercare 

 Rochdale Boroughwide Housing  

 Local Government Ombudsman 

 Care and support providers 

 North West Ambulance Service 

 Greater Manchester Police 

 Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service 

 Private landlords 

 
Only limited information will be shared with other providers, which are essential for the purposes of 
delivering the service.  

 
18.4 Key safe codes will be shared with Eldercare to allow the Mobile Responders to enable them to gain 

access to the property in response to alerts received. If the Careline Plus applicant would like anyone 
else to have the code, such as the STARs service, Home Care Agency or Next of Kin they must sign 
a keysafe declaration form clearly listing the people/organisation who they wish to have the code. The 
Home Improvement Agency will only share the code with the people listed in the signed keysafe 
declaration form.  

 

19. Complaints 

19.1 All complaints about any element of the Careline Service should be referred to Rochdale Council and 
will initially be dealt with informally, in line with the Adult Care Complaints policy. Whilst the complaint 

Page 62



 
 

 

may be about a part of the service delivered by one of our contracted providers, Rochdale Council will 
co-ordinate the investigation and response. 

 
19.2 Following an informal investigation, if the complainant remains dissatisfied, they can make a formal 

complaint, which will be dealt with under the Adult Care Complaints policy.  Further details of how to 
complain and the process can be found on the Rochdale Council website using the following link 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-us/complaints-and-
compliments/Pages/complaints-procedure.aspx 

 
19.3 If, following the outcome of the complaint, the complainant remains dissatisfied, they can contact the 

Local Government Ombudsman (LGO). The LGO would expect the applicant to have used the Council 
complaints process in the first instance, before they will investigate further. Details of the LGO can be 
found in the above link. 

 
 
 

20. Appendices  

 
 

 

Appendix 1 

Application form - Careline & Careline plus 

Careline 

application form.doc
 

Application form - GSM Careline 

Careline 

application form - GSM Application FINAL.doc
 

Application form – ILS Responder Service  

Careline 

application form - ILS Clients.doc
 

Appendix 2 Moving and Handling Risk Assessment 

Eldercare Moving  

Handling Risk Assessment oct2020.docx
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-us/complaints-and-compliments/Pages/complaints-procedure.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-us/complaints-and-compliments/Pages/complaints-procedure.aspx


 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 64



 

Careline Service 

Procedure 
 

 

Page 65



Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 1 

Document Control 

 

Document Title: Careline Service  
 
Summary 
 

Publication Date May 2021 

Related Legislation / Applicable Section of 
Legislation 

 Care Act 2014 
 Lifting Operations and Lifting Equipment 

Regulations (LOLER) 1998 

Related Policies, Strategies, Guideline 
Documents 

 Equality Act 2010 
 Reliefs from VAT for disabled and older people 

(VAT Notice 701/7) 

Replaces New procedure 

Joint Procedure (Yes/No) No 

Name of Partner(s) if joint  

Procedure Owner (Name/Position) 
Helen Murphy, Head of Governance and Business 
Support 

Procedure Document Author (Name/Position) 
Deborah Monks, Team Leader, Home Improvement 
Agency, Governance & Business Support 

 
 

Review of Procedure 
 

Last Review Date New procedure June 2021 

Review undertaken by  

Next Review Date June 2022 

 
 

Document Approvals 
 
This document requires the following approvals. 
 

Name Title Date of Issue Version Number 

Editorial Board  EB   1.0 

    

Page 66



Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 2 

1. Introduction  

1.1  The Careline Service, sometimes referred to as a Community Alarm Service is a discretionary, fully 
chargeable and non-subsidised service offered by Rochdale Council. It is delivered by the Home 
Improvement Agency (HIA), which is part of the Adult Care Service.   

1.2 Community alarm services are part of a range of equipment services known as telecare and is the 

foundation for much of the assistive technology (AT) provision within the Borough.  A range of AT 

devices can be connected to the Careline unit, such as falls detectors, movement monitors, door 

monitors and bed occupancy sensors. 

 

1.3 All Careline applicants must live within the boundary of the Rochdale Borough, at an address 

registered for Council Tax purposes payable to Rochdale Council and complete a Careline 

application form 

 

1.4 This procedure sets out: 

 How Rochdale Borough residents can apply for the Careline service and linked AT 

 How to refer for Careline Services, with or without linked AT or keysafe only   

 How to close referrals when unable to contact or at clients request 

 How Careline and associated equipment will be installed  

 Alarm Call monitoring & response  

 Testing Careline equipment  

 Timescales for responding to referrals, faults and low battery alerts  

 Customer Satisfaction 

 How Careline debt will be managed  

 How the Careline service will be terminated  

 Managing requests for keysafe codes  

 Reviewing the Eldercares Moving & Handling Risk Assessment 

 Dealing with complaints  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 3 

 

 

1. Procedure  
 
 

1 How Rochdale Borough residents can apply for the Careline service 
with or without linked Assistive Technology (AT) 

Task  
Allocation 

1.1 Rochdale Borough residents can apply for the Careline Service, and require 
no assessment by contacting Adult Care on 0300 303 8886. 

Adult Care Call 
Handlers  / Adult 

Care Duty 

1.2 Rochdale Borough residents must be assessed to identify the appropriate 
AT that can be linked to the Careline service to help meet their needs. 

All Adult Care 
Staff 

1.3 Careline with or without linked AT may be identified at the initial point of 
contact, following an initial assessment or at review stage by a suitably 
trained Health or Social Care practitioner. 

All Adult Care 
Staff 

1.4 Rochdale Borough residents can purchase one of the following Careline 
options: 

 Basic Careline, where a friend or family member is the nominated 
contact to respond to alerts raised. The nominated must consent to 
respond to alerts 24 hours per day, 365 days a year, live nearby and 
hold a key for the property. 
If an alert is raised and support is needed, but Eldercare are unable 
to contact any of the nominated contacts or next of kin an 
ambulance will be called where appropriate. 
 

 Careline Plus, where a mobile warden will be the nominated contact 
to respond to alerts. Family and friends can also request to be a 
nominated contacts along with the mobile warden. With Careline 
Plus the service user will also be provided with a police approved 
keysafe to support the mobile responder to gain access to the 
property in an emergency situation.  
In situations where the all of the mobile responders are already 
dealing with calls, Eldercare monitoring centre staff will assess 
whether the responder is able to attend to the new call within 45 
minutes. If there is any doubt, Eldercare will make contact with the 
service users alternative nominated contacts or next of kin and if 
they too are unavailable an ambulance will be called where 
appropriate. 

 

2 How to refer for Careline Services, with or without linked AT or 
keysafe only 

Task  
Allocation 

2.1 For service users who don’t have an open case on ALLIS, the Careline with 
or without AT / keysafe only referral form needs to be completed. 
 
The form is located within ALLIS, in the documents section. Once the 
referral form has been completed and saved, an ALLIS case notification will 
need to be sent to HIA Request for Assessments advising a referral has 
been made. 

Adult Care Call 
Handlers / Adult 

Care Duty 

2.2 For service users who have an open case on ALLIS, the Careline with or 
without AT / keysafe only action referral needs to be completed.  
 
Once the action referral has been completed it will automatically be sent to 
HIA Request for Assessments. 
 

All Adult Care 
Staff 

Page 68



Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 4 

2.3 All referrals are screened by a Senior Financial Business Support Officer or 
a HIA Team Leader. 
 
If the referral has been accepted, the Senior Financial Business Support 
Officer or the HIA Team Leader request the referral is processed by 
sending the referral to the Careline admin tray. 
 
If the referral has been rejected, the Senior Financial Business Support 
Officer or the HIA Team Leader will return the referral to the referrer 
advising the reason for rejection and will add a case note on ALLIS. 

Senior Financial 
Business Support 

Officer / HIA 
Team Leader 

(GBS). 
 

3 Closing a referral request 
 

Task  
Allocation 

3.1 In cases where HIA contact a service user following a referral and the 
service user is uncertain as to whether they want to proceed with Careline, 
the referral will be closed and the service user will be advised to contact us 
again if they decide at a later date they wish to proceed.    
 
A letter will be sent to the service user outlining the Careline service with 
the relevant contact information for future reference. 
 
A case note will be added to ALLIS and a case notification will be sent to 
the referrer. 

Careline 
Administrator 

3.2 In cases where HIA have been unable to contact a service user or their 
nominated contact on two separate occasions over two separate days, the 
referral will be closed and a letter will be sent to the service user outlining 
the Careline service with the relevant contact information for future 
reference. 
 
All calls will be logged on the service users FLARE / ALLIS record and the 
ALLIS case note will be sent to the referrer. 
 
For referrers not on ALLIS, such as a Child Care practitioner an email will 
be sent. 

Careline 
Administrator 

4 Installation of Careline equipment Task  
Allocation 

4.1 Careline equipment installations take place during normal office hours 
8:30am – 16:45pm (Careline unit, one linked pendant and a keysafe where 
appropriate). These installations are completed by a fully trained member of 
the HIA team. 
Out of normal office hours, including bank holidays all emergency 
installations will be undertaken by a mobile responder, working with our 
contracted provider – Eldercare. 
 

HIA Installer / 
Eldercare 

4.2 The Careline equipment (Careline unit and linked AT) is installed by a fully 
trained member of the HIA team during normal office hours 8:30am – 
16:45pm.  

HIA Installer 

4.3 In properties where there is more than one telephone (usually telephone 
extensions in separate rooms), a safe socket will need to be installed to 
ensure that the Careline unit always has priority over any of the lines. 
 

HIA Installer / 
Eldercare 

Page 69



Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 5 

4.4 In situations where a service user doesn’t have a landline, it may be 
possible to install a different unit, which has an integrated SIM card within it.  
This will enable it to search for the strongest signal from various providers, 
and connect to the strongest mobile phone network to enable a call to be 
made to the monitoring centre.  Additional charges apply for this service. 
 

HIA Installer / 
Eldercare 

4.5 During the installation of Careline equipment, the service user will be asked 
to complete an application form, a direct debit form and VAT exemption 
form (if applicable). 
 

HIA Installer 

4.6 All service users must pay by Direct Debit; however if someone advises that 
they cannot pay by Direct Debit for exceptional reasons, such as being 
unable to manage finances / possible financial abuse prevent the service 
user having bank account, the case will be referred to the Director of 
Operations or a Head of Service for consideration of DD waiver to enable 
the service user to be set up as a cash payer. 
 

Senior Financial 
Business Support 

Officer / HIA 
Team Leader 

4.7 The HIA Installer will leave the Careline service user with an information 
sheet relating to the Careline service provided, along with relevant FAQ’s 
. 

HIA Installer 

4.8 The completed application form, direct debit form and VAT exemption form 
(if applicable) will be scanned to be processed by the Careline 
administration team. 
 

HIA Installer 

4.9 If Eldercare install the Careline service out of hours, the application form, 
direct debit, VAT exemption and Careline information sheets / FAQs will be 
posted to the Careline service user with a pre-paid envelope. 
 

Careline 
Administrator 

4.10 The Careline clients FLARE and electronic folder will be updated with the 
completed paperwork received in the Careline inbox. 
 

Careline 
Administrator 

4.11 Eldercare will be sent any relevant updates following the installation, such 
as the keysafe location or additional responder details. 

Careline 
Administrator 

4.12 The Careline & AT stock sheet will be updated detailing where the 
equipment is situated.  If applicable the keysafe code spreadsheet will be 
updated with the location of the safe. 
 

Careline 
Administrator 

4.13 A case note on ALLIS will be added to confirm installation has taken place. 
 

Careline 
Administrator 

5 Alarm Call monitoring & response 
 

Task 
Allocation 

5.1 Rochdale Council has a contract with Eldercare to provide an alarm call 
monitoring and response service, which operates 24 hours per day, 365 
days a year, which is regulated by the Telecare Services Association. 
 

Eldercare  

5.2 The monitoring centre have set targets to answer 100% of calls or alerts 
within 180 seconds, 95.5% within 60 seconds and 80% within 30 seconds. 
 

Eldercare 

5.3 When the monitoring centre responds to a situation where the call or alert 
being triaged requires an emergency response from Fire / Police / 
Ambulance, they will request the appropriate service; however they will 

Eldercare 

Page 70



Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 6 

have no control over the speed of response, or any eventuality resulting 
from the speed of response. 
 

5.4 For Careline customers living in Rochdale Boroughwide Housing (RBH) 
Independent Living Schemes (ILS), all alerts will go through to the Tunstall 
monitoring centre commissioned within the scheme by RBH.  If during the 
triage process Tunstall determine that a mobile responder is required, they 
will contact a dedicated number at Eldercare to arrange for the mobile 
responder to be dispatched. 
 

Tunstall 

5.5 When the mobile responder is requested to respond to a call or alert they 
have set targets that 100% of the mobile responder will attend the property 
within 45 minutes, 90% within 20-30 minutes and 70% in under 20 minutes.  
This is the standard we would like to achieve, but on rare occasions, it may 
take longer than 45 minutes, as sometimes, all mobile responders are 
supporting other customers and can’t leave them.  The control centre 
operator will keep service users informed and if appropriate, may ask if a 
family, friend or neighbour is able to respond more quickly in the interim. 
 

Eldercare 

6 Testing Careline equipment  Task 
Allocation 

6.1 During the installation of the Careline equipment, the service users will be 
advised to complete a monthly test to ensure that the equipment is working 
as it should.  
The service user will be provided with the Careline teams contact 
information should they need to report any issues with their Careline 
equipment. 
 

HIA installer  

6.2  Careline service users are reviewed on a monthly basis and in cases where 
there hasn’t been any test calls, or any other calls or alerts made, during the 
previous month, one of the Careline administrators will contact the service 
user by telephone or letter to remind them to make a test call. 
 

Careline 
Administrator  

7 Timescales for responding to referrals, faults & low battery alerts Task 
Allocation 

7.1 Requests for the Careline service with or without AT will be responded to 
within 5 working days, unless it is part of an urgent package of care upon 
discharge from hospital, in which case, the referral will be responded to 
within 24 hours, if not sooner. 

Careline 
Administrator 

7.2 Requests for AT to be linked to an existing Careline service will be 
responded to within 5 working days, unless it is part of an urgent package 
of care upon discharge from hospital, in which case, the referral will be 
responded to within 24 hours, if not sooner. 

Careline 
Administrator 

7.3 Requests for keysafes only will be responded to within 5 working days, 
unless it is part of an urgent package of care upon discharge from hospital, 
in which case, the referral will be responded to within 24 hours, if not 
sooner. 

Careline 
Administrator 

7.4 All faults with Careline equipment will be responded to within 5 working 
days where the fault is affecting the emergency operation of the alarm.   
 

Careline 
Administrator  

Page 71



Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 7 

Other faults not directly affecting the emergency operation of the alarm and 
the ability to call for help will be responded to within 10 working days.   
 
All relevant systems will be updated, such as the clients FLARE / ALLIS 
record. 

7.5 Low Battery reports are received every Wednesday afternoon. All Careline 
service users who appear on the low battery report will be contacted within 
5 working days to book an appointment to replace the battery. 
 
Relevant systems will be updated, such as the clients FLARE / ALLIS 
record. 

Careline 
Administrator 

8 Customer Satisfaction  
 

Task 
Allocation 

8.1 A telephone call will be made to all new service users within 6 weeks of 
joining the service, to ascertain their satisfaction with the initial referral 
process, installation and acclimatisation. 
 
All feedback will be recorded in a database and in FLARE (HIA electronic 
records system). 

Careline 
Administrator 

8.2 A telephone call will be made to a random sample of service users who 
have been recorded by Eldercare as having had a mobile response call out 
during the previous week, to determine their satisfaction with the 
monitoring centre triage and mobile response. 
 
All feedback will be recorded in a database and in FLARE. 

Careline 
Administrator 

8.3 All Careline service users will be contacted on an annual basis, as part of 
our reviewing process. The review will cover payments/arrears, equipment 
testing, satisfaction and whether the service is fully meeting their needs.   
The annual review will be documented on FLARE / ALLIS (AC electronic 
record system) and in a database. 

Careline 
Administrator 

8.4 All customer satisfaction will be reviewed and acted upon where necessary  Senior Financial 
Business Support 
Officer / HIA Team 

Leader 

9 Careline Debt 
 

Task 
Allocation 

9.1 If a service user misses a payment, the usual corporate debt process will 
apply. 

 21 days to make a payment  

 After 21 days, a final notice is issued, giving a further 14 days to 
pay 

 After the 14 days, a Court warning notice is issued giving a further 
14 days 

 

RBC Finance 

9.2 If no payment has been received at the end of the standard period detailed 
above, the Careline team will try to make contact with the service user to 
determine whether they intend to bring their payments up to date and 
retain the service. 
 

Careline 
Administrator/ 

Senior Financial 
Business Support 

Officer  

9.3 If no contact can be made, or the service user refuses to bring their 
payments up to date, the following will apply: 

Careline 
Administrator/ 

Page 72



Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 8 

 
 For service with no known care and support needs, the service will 

be terminated within 14 days 
 

 For service users known to Adult Care, with previous or current care 
and support needs, or identified risks and vulnerabilities, a referral 
will be made to the appropriate locality team to assess whether the 
service user has capacity to choose not to pay for the service, taking 
into consideration their assessment and care plan and any risks in 
not continuing to have the Careline service.  The decision to 
terminate the Careline service will be signed off by a Locality Team 
Manager, or delegated member of the Locality Team.   

 

Senior Financial 
Business Support 

Officer 

10 Managing requests for keysafe codes Task allocation 

10.1 Key safe codes will be shared with Eldercare to allow the Mobile Responders 
to enable them to gain access to the property in response to alerts received. 
If the Careline Plus applicant would like anyone else to have the code, such 
as the STARs service, Home Care Agency or Next of Kin they must sign a 
keysafe declaration form clearly listing the people/organisation who they 
wish to have the code. The Home Improvement Agency will only share the 
code with the people listed in the signed keysafe declaration form.  
 

Careline 
administrator 

11 Terminating the Careline Service 

 

Task 
Allocation 

11.1 A service user can request to cancel the service at any time and the 
service will be cancelled on the same day the service user made the 
request to cancel the service.  The cancellation date cannot be backdated, 
unless there is written evidence that the HIA had been notified on a 
previous date and failed to cancel the service.  
 

Careline 
Administrator 

11.2 When a Careline service users goes into residential placement or a long 
period of respite arranged by Adult Care, it is still the responsibility of the 
service user or their representative to notify HIA that they wish to cancel 
the service; however, it is good practice for the worker arranging the 
placement to notify the Careline service, by emailing 
Careline@Rochdale.gov.uk or sending a case notification via ALLIS to the 
HIA Request for assessment tray. 
 

Careline service 
user / Adult Care 

staff  

11.3 All cases where the service is cancelled due to non-payment or ongoing 
debt issues will be reported on the dashboard report to the Technology 
Enabled Care (TEC) Board. 
 

HIA Team Leader 

11.4 The service can be terminated if it is misused, or the mobile responders 
feel threatened in any way by unacceptable or inappropriate behaviours 
when responding to alerts.   
 
Eldercare would need to make the request in writing to RBC advising of 
their reasons for wanting to withdraw the service. 
 

Eldercare/Careline 
Administrator/ 

Senior Financial 
Business Support 

Officer 

11.5 If Rochdale Council terminates the service for any reason, such as 
aggressive or intimidating behaviour from the service user, family members 

Senior Financial 
Business Support 

Page 73

mailto:Careline@Rochdale.gov.uk


Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 9 

or other people in the property, drug and alcohol abuse which is deemed 
unacceptable for the mobile responders to deal with etc. a letter will be 
sent to the service user to advise that the service has been terminated and 
the reasons why and would request they contact HIA to arrange to return 
the Careline equipment.   
 

Officer / HIA Team 
Leader  

11.6 If the service has been cancelled by the Careline service user and an 
appointment has not been arranged to collect the equipment or the 
equipment has not been returned within 14 days, a charge of £100 will be 
made to cover the cost of the unrecovered equipment, if the equipment is 
less than 5 years old and suitable to be recycled. 
 

Senior Financial 
Business Support 
Officer / HIA Team 

Leader 

11.7 The Careline equipment is provided to a service user on a loan basis, the 
equipment remains the property of RBC and must returned to the service in 
the same condition (subject to general wear and tear) and working order as 
it was initially installed.  
 
If the Careline equipment has been returned damaged, which is not the 
result of general wear and tear may result in a charge of £100, if the 
equipment is less than 5 years old and suitable to be recycled. 
 

Senior Financial 
Business Support 
Officer / HIA Team 

Leader 

12 Reviewing the Eldercares Moving & Handling Risk Assessment 
 

Task 
Allocation 

12.1 When Eldercare make any changes to the moving and handling risk this is 
reviewed by the  Home Improvement Agency staff, Moving and Handling 
Advisor and OT Advanced Practitioner in Adult Care. 
 
 

Adult Care’s  
HIA Staff, Moving 

and Handling 
Advisor / OT 

Advanced 
Practitioner 

12.2 Eldercares moving and handling risk assessment document and process 
will be reviewed by Adult Care’s Moving and Handling Advisor and OT 
Advanced Practitioner annually.  
 
 

Adult Care’s 
Moving and 

Handling Advisor / 
OT Advanced 
Practitioner 

12.3 Any requested changes to the moving and handling risk assessment by 
Eldercare will be reviewed by the Moving and Handling Advisor/OT 
Advanced Practitioner in Adult Care and taken to the Technology Enabled 
Care Board for approval. 

 

12.4 All reviews and/or changes to Eldercares moving and handling risk 
assessment will be taken to the Technology Enabled Care Board for their 
approval. 
 

HIA Team 
Manager / HIA 
Team Leader 

13 Complaints 
 

Task 
Allocation 

13.1 All complaints about the Careline service will be dealt with informally 
wherever possible, in line with the Adult Care Complaints policy. 
  
The complaint will be investigated by HIA staff, but will need support from 
partners such as RBC finance, Eldercare or RBH depending on the type of 
complaint. 
 

HIA staff, RBH 
Finance, 

Eldercare & RBH  

Page 74



Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 10 

13.2 For complaints that cannot be resolved informally the service user will be 
provided with details on how the can make a formal complaint.  
 

HIA staff 

13.3 Formal complaints will be dealt with under the Adult Care Complaints 
policy.  Further details of how to complain and the process can be found on 
the Rochdale Council website using the following link 
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-us/complaints-
and-compliments/Pages/complaints-procedure.aspx 
 

Corporate 
compliments and 
complaints team  

13.4 If following the outcome of the complaint, the complainant remains 
dissatisfied, the service user can contact the Local Government 
Ombudsman (LGO). The LGO would expect the applicant to have used the 
Council complaints process in the first instance, before they will investigate 
further. Details of the LGO can be found in the above link. 
 

LGO 

 

2 Process for monitoring compliance and effectiveness of the procedure 

2.1 The Home Improvement Agency will provide a Careline dashboard report to the Technology Board, 
which usually meets on a bi-monthly basis.    

 

3 Procedure Review Date 

3.1 This procedure will be reviewed annually or if there is a change in process. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 75

http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-us/complaints-and-compliments/Pages/complaints-procedure.aspx
http://www.rochdale.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/contact-us/complaints-and-compliments/Pages/complaints-procedure.aspx


Careline Service 
Procedure 

rochdale.gov.uk 11 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 

Report to Cabinet 

 

 

Date of Meeting 29th June 2021 
 

Portfolio Cabinet Member for 
Economy and 
Communications 
 

Report Author Gary Davies  
 

Public/Private Document Public 
 

 

Future High Street Fund - Grant Award for Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 
(Upperbanks)  

 

Executive Summary 

 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 

Rochdale Development Agency, acting on behalf or Rochdale Borough 
Council, has recently secured an offer of £17,080,457 from the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) towards the 
Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 (Upperbanks) scheme in Rochdale town 
centre. 
 
The purpose of this report is to secure authority to accept this funding offer 
and to sign the Memorandum of Understanding recently issued by MHCLG, 
before the deadline of 30th June 2021. 
 

Recommendation 

 
2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet agrees to  

 accept the funding offer from the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government  

 to authorise the Chief Finance Officer to sign the Memorandum of 
Understanding  

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3.1 Approval to accept the funding offer will enable external funding to be 

secured to support delivery of the Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 (Upperbanks) 
scheme.     
 
 

 

Key Points for Consideration 

Page 77

Agenda Item 8



 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Background 
In March 2019, an Expression of Interest was submitted by Rochdale 
Development Agency, on behalf of the Council, to MHCLG for funding from 
the Future High Street Fund (FHSF).  The Council was subsequently 
invited to submit a full business case for funding.  Cabinet gave approval to 
submit the FHSF full business case bid to MHCLG in July 2020.  
 
Following a clarification process in October 2020, the Council received an 
‘in principle’ FHSF funding offer from MHCLG and this was reported to 
Cabinet on 26th January 2021. Following a further review of the FHSF 
funding offer by MHCLG, the Council has now received formal notification 
that it has been awarded £17,080,457 for Rochdale town centre. The 
funding offer is specifically allocated to the Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 
(Upperbanks) scheme. 
 
The Upperbanks scheme is a long standing project, which is intended to 
provide a major mixed use residential and hotel development in Rochdale 
town centre. The scheme presents a major opportunity to support the on-
going regeneration of the town centre. The site is owned by the Council 
and the scheme has progressed on a number of fronts over the past year.  
 

o The Council has funded the costs of the design works for the 
scheme and the partly funding the enabling works package, which is 
currently on site.  

o The Council has secured £3.42m of Brownfield Land grant funding 
from Greater Manchester Combined Authority towards the costs of 
the enabling works.  

o A detailed planning permission for the development was granted in 
April 2021.   

o Subject to a further Cabinet approval in 2021 it is hoped to make a 
start on site on the main contract later in 2021.  

 
This FHSF funding has been awarded under Section 31 of the Local 
Government Act 2003 and will help reduce the overall deficit for the 
scheme. An initial FHSF grant payment of £4,108,302 for the financial year 
21/22 is due to be made in early June 2021, with a further £12,872,632 due 
to be allocated for the financial year 22/23.  MHCLG have stated that 
funding from 2022/23 onwards will be subject to the outcome of the 
Spending Review. 
 
The key terms of the MOU are  
 

 MHCLG have confirmed that the MOU is not legally enforceable  

 MHCLG expects the Council to use the funding provided for the 
purposes outlined in the business case approved by MHCLG (i.e. 
Upperbanks - Rochdale Riverside Phase 2) 

 Should delivery not progress as agreed, MHCLG will review whether 
it is appropriate to grant the next tranche of funding  

 The Council are to provide regular project, financial and risk 
reporting to MHCLG, along with monitoring & evaluation reports 

Page 78



 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
 
 
 

 Funding from 2022/23 onwards will be subject to the outcome of the 
Spending Review which is anticipated to take place in November 
2021. This is a standard requirement for all MHCLG funding and has 
been imposed on all FHSF awards across the country. 

 
 
Alternatives Considered 

 

Alternative option  Reason to why the option has been 
discounted 

Not accept the FHSF 
grant 

The project would lose the opportunity to 
secure significant public sector funding 
needed to support the development of the 
scheme. 

Delay accepting the 
FHSF grant  

This would delay signing the MOU as 
required by MHCLG, would result in 
delays to delivery of the project and 
potentially put the external funding at risk   

 

  

Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 

There will be no additional costs incurred by the Council as a result of 
accepting the FHSF funding. The reporting and monitoring requirements set 
out in the MOU and the project itself will be managed by the RDA at no 
additional cost to the Council.  
 
The funding will reduce the overall funding deficit for the Upperbanks 
scheme.  A further report will be presented to Cabinet later in 2021 for an 
additional approval when the proposed funding and delivery structure for the 
scheme is confirmed. This report will include the proposed delivery and 
funding route for the scheme, along with financial, legal, commercial and tax 
due diligence.  It will also seek consent to commence the construction of the 
main scheme. 
 
Funding from 2022/23 onwards will be subject to the outcome of the central 
government Spending Review which is anticipated to take place in 
November 2021. This is a standard requirement for all MHCLG funding and 
has been imposed on all FHSF awards across the country.  
 
Should delivery of the scheme not progress as via the MOU, MHCLG will 
review whether it is appropriate to grant the next tranche of funding, and 
there is a risk that funds may be delayed or withheld.  This could leave the 
Council with a funding gap for the scheme and/or additional costs, leading to 
a pressure on the overall Council budget.  
 
Pursuant to Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003 Act, the Secretary 
of State is empowered to determine that grants shall be paid towards 
revenue or capital expenditure incurred or to be incurred by local authorities. 
This determination specifies the local authorities to which the grants are to 
be paid, the projects on which the grants may be spent, the amount which 

Page 79



the Secretary of State proposes to pay each of the authorities concerned and 
the manner of payment. It also specifies the conditions on which the grants 
are to be paid. 

 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6.1 
 
 
 
 
 

Key risks and mitigations associated with this report are identified below; 
 

Risk Implications / Mitigation  

Funding from 2022/23 
onwards will be subject to the 
outcome of the government 
Spending Review 

The procurement plan for the scheme 
will seek to ensure it aligns where 
possible with the actual level of MHCLG 
confirmed funding and minimises  
financial exposure to the Council 

Cabinet declines to accept the 
funding offer    

Funding needs to be found from 
elsewhere or the viability gap of the 
scheme increases 

Delay in accepting the funding 
offer means spend cannot be 
achieved by funding deadline      

Cabinet agree to accept grant offer, with 
prompt signing of the MOU        

Delays to programme mean 
full amount of grant not 
claimed by funding deadline  

Prompt signing of MOU and 
procurement of the contractor giving 
maximum time to spend grant  

Funds may be delayed or 
withheld by MHCLG due to 
lack of progress/delivery 

Prompt signing of MOU and 
procurement of the contractor giving 
maximum time to spend grant; provision 
of regular project, financial and risk 
reporting to MHCLG, along with 
monitoring & evaluation reports 

  
 

    

Consultation 

 
7.1 
 
 
 
 

There is no requirement to consult on the offer of grant funding. The 
scheme has been subject to the usual consultation processes undertaken 
in large scale physical regeneration initiatives schemes, including public 
consultation during the planning application process).  

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

 Cabinet Report - 28th July 2020 
 
Cabinet Report - 26th January 2021 
 

Committee Services  
 
Committee Services 

For Further Information Contact: Gary Davies  
g.davies@investinrochdale.co.uk 
Tel: 01706 927034 

 

Page 80

mailto:g.davies@investinrochdale.co.uk


 

Report to Cabinet 

 

 

Date of Meeting 29th June 2021 
 

Portfolio Cabinet Member for 
Economy and 
Communications 
 

Report Author Gary Davies  
 

Public/Private Document Public 
 

 

Neighbourhood Rochdale (Central Retail Park) development 
update  

 

 

Executive Summary 

 
1.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1.2 
 
 
 
 
 
1.3 
 
 
 
 
 
1.4 
 
 
 
 
 

In February 2020 Cabinet considered a report relating to the proposed 
‘Neighbourhood Rochdale’ housing development at Drake Street and 
Oldham Road (Central Retail Park). The proposal is to deliver a high quality 
residential scheme as a key component of the Station Gateway masterplan 
and to maintain the momentum of the on-going regeneration strategy for 
Rochdale town centre. 
 
Cabinet agreed to provide funding for the detailed design of the scheme, to 
undertake site surveys, prepare reports and undertake a cost analysis and 
viability appraisal. It was also agreed to come back to Cabinet for an 
additional approval when the design had been progressed and a viability 
appraisal was complete. 
 
Since the Cabinet report in February 2020, work on the design of the 
scheme (up to RIBA Stage 3) has been progressed and it is intended to 
submit the detailed planning application for the scheme in early July 2021. 
This current report seeks approval from Cabinet to the current designs and 
to the submission of the detailed planning application, subject to 
confirmation of the financial viability of the scheme as a whole.  
 
In addition, £3.76m of ‘Brownfield Land Funding’ has recently been secured 
from the Greater Manchester Combined Authority to support the 
Neighbourhood Rochdale scheme. Approval from Cabinet is needed to 
accept this offer of funding.  
 
 
 
 

Page 81

Agenda Item 9



Recommendation 

 
2. It is recommended that Cabinet agrees to:  

 
a) accept the £3.76m Brownfield Land Funding offer to support the 

residential development 
b) the submission of the detailed planning application for the scheme. 
c) endorse the RIBA Stage 3 designs of the scheme, subject to future 

confirmation of the financial viability of the scheme as a whole.  
d) the Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce) be 

authorised to enter into any legal agreements necessary to give effect 
to this decision in consultation with the Cabinet member for Economy 
and the Director of Economy and the Director of Resources. 

 

Reason for Recommendation 

 
3. In order to ensure timely delivery of Neighbourhood Rochdale, it is expedient 

to accept the GM Brownfield Land Funding and make progress on the 
scheme design.      
 

Recommendation  Reason for Recommendation  

Accept the GM Brownfield 
Land Funding 

Approval will enable the additional external 
funding to be secured to support delivery of 
the scheme 

Approve the submission of 
the planning application for 
the main contract 

The submission of the planning application 
will allow the scheme to be progressed   

Endorse the current the 
designs (currently at RIBA 
Stage 3), subject to future 
confirmation of the financial 
viability of the scheme as a 
whole 

It was agreed in February 2020 to come 
back to Cabinet when the design had been 
progressed  

 

 
 

Key Points for Consideration 

 
4.0 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Background 
In February 2020 Cabinet agreed to provide funding for the detailed design 
of the scheme and to undertake site surveys, prepare reports and 
undertake a cost analysis and viability appraisal. It was also agreed to 
come back to Cabinet for an additional approval when the design had been 
progressed and a viability appraisal was complete. 
 
Progress since February  
Since February 2020 work has continued to progress the scheme on a 
number of fronts 
  
o Work on the design of the main scheme has progressed with the 

designs currently at RIBA Stage 3 (spatial co-ordination stage). This 

Page 82



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.4 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 

design stage provides sufficient information for a detailed planning 
application to be submitted.  

o The planning application for the main works is currently being prepared 
with a view for submission in early July 2021. 

o Funding of £3.67m of ‘Brownfield Land Funding’ from Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) has been secured to support 
the scheme and a draft Grant Funding Agreement has been received.  

o The scope of an initial enabling works contract is currently being 
reviewed.   

o An initial cost plan and viability appraisal has been prepared and this is 
currently being reviewed and refined following completion of the RIBA 
Stage 3 design process.  

o Initial engagement and public consultation on the scheme has been 
undertaken.  

o The Council have appointed CBRE Ltd to review the scheme proposals 
and financial appraisal and to report on matters including overall 
financial viability, ongoing financial implications for the Council, 
predicted demand and reasonableness of underlying assumptions.  
This work will be reported to Cabinet in due course to support future 
decisions around progression of the scheme.  

 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) have confirmed that 
£3.76m has been made available under the Brownfield Land Fund to 
support the residential development at Neighbourhood Rochdale. This 
funding is the same funding stream which has already contributed £3.42m 
towards the Upperbanks (Rochdale Riverside Phase 2) scheme in Rochdale 
town centre (approval to accept this £3.42m for Upperbanks was approved 
by Cabinet in October 2020).    
 
A formal offer of funding has been received by the Council along with the 
draft Grant Funding Agreement (GFA). The terms of the funding offer and 
Grant Funding Agreement are currently being reviewed (they are very 
similar to the terms of the GFA recently completed in respect of  Rochdale 
Riverside Phase 2, approved by Cabinet in October 2020). As with the 
Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 GFA, the GFA for Neighbourhood Rochdale 
includes spend deadlines and milestones which will need to be met, and 
clawback provisions in the event that the scheme fails to progress to the 
build stage. Once the agreement has been formally reviewed and the terms 
of the offer are considered acceptable, it is recommended that Cabinet 
delegate authority to the Director of Economy and Chief Finance Officer in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Finance & Corporate to accept the 
formal grant funding offer, and to the Chief Finance Officer to sign the Grant 
Funding Agreement between Rochdale Council and the GMCA.   
 
Members should note that GMCA Brownfield Fund has also been awarded 
to a number of other proposed residential schemes in the borough, including 
£3.68m at British Vita in Middleton and £1.68m at Dunlop Works, Royle 
Road, Castleton. 
 
In addition to the grant funding offer, work has been progressed on the 
design of the scheme. The design has been progressed up to RIBA Stage 3, 

Page 83



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.6 
 
 
 
 
 
4.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

which provides sufficient information for a detailed planning application to be 
submitted. In line with the Cabinet resolution in February 2020, it is now an 
appropriate stage for Cabinet to be updated on the current iteration of the 
design. Members should note that the Council has recently appointed 
external independent consultants (CBRE Ltd) to provide an overview of the 
scheme. Alongside a review of financial elements as described above, this 
includes a review of the overall project structure & assumptions, along with a 
high level review of the design. The external consultants have confirmed that 
the designs undertaken to date, being at RIBA Stage 3 with technical design 
still to be undertaken, demonstrate that ‘The proposal for Neighbourhood, 
Rochdale presents a great opportunity to create a high quality new 
residential area.  The Design response to the site shows a considered 
approach to providing quality homes in Rochdale town centre and addresses 
the need for a good mix of accommodation providing both starter homes 
through to large family homes.  
The provision of shared, green amenity space should help to engender a 
community and benefit the health and wellbeing of the residents.  Some 
thought will have to be made regarding the developed design and 
management of these spaces so to make them both economically and 
socially viable, but the inclusion of such spaces is very positive.  
 
The design could be amended to increase density and improve commercial 
returns, but this would be at the detriment to the social benefits of the 
current proposal and if the intention is to create a sustainable 
neighbourhood, this should be avoided.  
The design proposals do demonstrate some ‘green’ credentials, such as 
living roofs.  Through the developed design process further thought should 
be given to the environmental and sustainability of the development.  
 
Overall, this is a good proposal that demonstrates the desire to create an 
interesting and sustainable community within the town’    
 
It is also intended to submit the full planning application for the scheme in 
early July 2021, and Cabinet are asked therefore to approve the submission 
of the planning application (the cost of submitting the planning application 
are covered under the existing scheme budget, funded by the existing 
Council capital programme).   
 
As set out in the report to Cabinet in February 2020, it is still necessary to 
come back to Cabinet at a future date when the viability 
appraisal/independent review is complete.  The progress on the RIBA Stage 
3 design has allowed an initial cost plans and viability appraisals to be 
prepared and this is currently being reviewed and refined in conjunction with 
the project team. In addition, the scheme will continue to be subject to 
finance, legal, commercial and tax due diligence, and as set out in the ‘next 
steps’ section below, it is proposed to come back to Cabinet later in 2021 
and in early 2022 to seek approval to the enabling works contract, funding 
arrangements and delivery structure, along with the viability appraisal, once 
these have been confirmed.   
 
 

Page 84



4.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.11 

Next steps  
Subject to Cabinet approval to this report, the immediate next steps to 
progress the scheme will be to:  
 

o complete the GMCA Brownfield Land Grant Funding Agreement 
o submit the detailed planning application  
o progress the design to RIBA Stage 4 (technical design) 
o review the scope and programme of the enabling works and site 

remediation package 
 
Subject to progress on the above, it is proposed to come back to Cabinet in 
Autumn 2021 to seek approval to:  
 

o agree costs and funding of the enabling works (funded by the GMCA 
Brownfield Land fund) 

o procure the contractor to undertake enabling works 
o commence the enabling works and remediation on site 

 
It is then proposed to bring a further report to Cabinet in late 2021 or early 
2022 to deal with the following:  
 

o outcome of the finance, legal, commercial and tax due 
diligence/independent review 

o the preferred funding and delivery route for the main scheme 
o funding of the main works contract  
o procurement of contractor to undertake main contract  
o the commercial appraisal (cost/values) and cash flow 
o the outcome of the review by external consultants 

 
Alternatives Considered 

 

Alternative option  Reason to why the option has 
been discounted 

Delay approval of the current 
RIBA Stage 3 design  

This would put the public sector 
funding potentially available at risk 
as the Brownfield Land funding is 
subject to a deadline. It would 
ultimately delay the delivery of the 
main development scheme. 

Delay submission of the planning 
application   

This would put the public sector 
funding potentially available at risk 
and result in unnecessary delays   

Not accept the Brownfield Land 
Funding  

The project would lose key public 
sector funding needed to support 
the development of the scheme. 

Do Nothing This would result in the site 
remaining vacant and leaves the 
Council with a liability in an area 
which needs intervention  

 

  

Page 85



Costs and Budget Summary 

 
5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 

In February 2020 Cabinet gave approval to fund the design costs of the 
proposed scheme, estimated at £2.8m, and funded from existing capital 
approvals (£2m Town Centre Residential Strategy, £0.8m Property Growth 
Fund). This committed funding is being utilised to undertake the design of 
the scheme (RIBA Stages 3 & 4) and to fund the submission of the planning 
application. There will be no additional costs to the Council from the 
submission of the planning application.  
 
There will be no additional costs incurred by the Council as a result of 
accepting the GMCA Brownfield Land external funding. The project is 
managed by the RDA,. the cost of which is fully funded through the Council’s 
capital programme, via the allocations as detailed above.  
 
Subject to Cabinet approval in Autumn 2021, it is proposed to utilise the 
GMCA Brownfield Land funding to undertake the enabling works on site. The 
scope of the enabling works will be aligned to the amount of Brownfield Land 
funding available to ensure there will no additional costs to the Council. 
 
Members should note that current appraisals indicate a significant viability 
gap (where estimated development costs exceed the likely development 
value on completion) in relation to the proposed scheme.  The reduction of 
this viability gap will be a key consideration in the due diligence work 
referenced above and the independent review of the scheme.  A revised 
assessment of this position as a result of this work will form part of future 
reports to Cabinet concerning this scheme, together with the estimated 
ongoing financial implications for the Council should the scheme go ahead.  
 

 

 

Risk and Policy Implications 

 
6. 
 
 
 
 
 

Key risks and mitigations associated with this report are identified below; 
 

Risk Implications / Mitigation  

Cabinet declines to accept the 
Brownfield Land funding offer    

Funding needs to be found from 
elsewhere or the viability gap of the 
scheme increases 

Delay in accepting the funding 
offer means spend cannot be 
achieved by funding deadline      

Cabinet agree to accept grant offer, with 
prompt signing of legal Grant Funding 
Agreement        

Delays to programme mean 
full amount of grant not 
claimed by funding deadline  

Prompt signing of legal Grant Funding 
Agreement giving maximum time to 
spend grant  

Clawback of grant if outputs 
not delivered 

The draft Grant Funding Agreement 
contains an agreed list of outputs and 
timetable for their delivery. These will be 
constructed to ensure that they are 
realistic and achievable, to minimise the 
chance of grant clawback.     

Page 86



The costs of the enabling 
works contract exceed the 
level of Brownfield Land 
funding available     

The scope of the enabling works 
contract will be specifically designed to 
match the Brownfield Land funding offer    

Cabinet decides to delay the 
submission of the planning 
application  

This would put the public sector funding 
potentially available at risk and result in 
delays to the project delivery and the 
wider Station Gateway programme   

Noting the significant viability 
gap based on current 
appraisals, the site may not 
be developed after the 
enabling works    

The enabling works will create a ‘shovel 
ready’ site and will help future proof the 
site and add value by making it more 
developable   

  
 

    

Consultation 

 
7.1 
 
 
 
 

The Neighbourhood Rochdale scheme has been subject to public 
consultation, led by the contractor. The most recent consultation with 
members of the public and Council members took place in May 2021.  
 

 

Background Papers Place of Inspection 

 

 February 2020 Cabinet Report 
 
Specification and/or plans RIBA Stage 3 
designs of the scheme 
 

Committee Services  
 
Committee Services 
 

 

For Further Information Contact: Gary Davies  
g.davies@investinrochdale.co.uk 
Tel: 01706 927034 

 

Page 87

mailto:g.davies@investinrochdale.co.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 88

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 94

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 95

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 96

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 97

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 102

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 118

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 119

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1,3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 126

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1,3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Final Outturn Report 2020/21
	4. Revenue Budget 2020/21
	4.2 Health & Social Care Pool Budget
	4.3 Budget Pressures
	4.4 Savings
	4.5 Transformation Fund
	4.6 Capital Budget 2020/21
	4.6.1 Capital Budget Changes

	7 Careline Policy
	careline policy updated june21 final version
	1. Executive Summary
	1.1 This Policy sets out how the community alarm service also known as the Careline Service in Rochdale is delivered, including the provision of equipment and service, installation and removal, alarm call response, maintenance and charging.
	2. Introduction
	2.1 The Careline Service is a community alarm service and is a discretionary, fully chargeable and non-subsidised service offered by Rochdale Borough Council, delivered within the Home Improvement Agency (HIA), which is part of the Adult Care Service.
	10.6 Rochdale Council are members of the Telecare Services Association (TSA) who are the representative body for technology enabled care (TEC) services, working on behalf of and advising organisations including telecare and telehealth providers, housi...
	10.7 Eldercare who are the contracted providers of monitoring and response are an accredited member of the TSA, which is an ongoing requirement of the contract Rochdale Council have with them.
	20. Appendices

	Careline Procedure working document jun21
	1. Introduction
	1.1  The Careline Service, sometimes referred to as a Community Alarm Service is a discretionary, fully chargeable and non-subsidised service offered by Rochdale Council. It is delivered by the Home Improvement Agency (HIA), which is part of the Adult...
	1. Procedure
	2 Process for monitoring compliance and effectiveness of the procedure
	3 Procedure Review Date


	8 Future High Street Fund - Grant Award for Rochdale Riverside Phase 2 (Upperbanks)
	9 Neighbourhoods Rochdale Update
	11 Environmental Fleet Vehicles
	Rep sched VRP 202122 pdf
	Rep sched VRP 202223 pdf
	Rep sched VRP 202324 pdf

	12 Rochdale Development Agency (RDA) Core Revenue Funding 2021-2022
	Append. 1 for Rochdale Development Agency (RDA) Core Revenue Funding 2021-2022
	Append. 2 for Rochdale Development Agency (RDA) Core Revenue Funding 2021-2022

	13 Bowlee Park Golf Range, Heywood Old Road, Middleton
	Append. 1 for Bowlee Park Golf Range, Heywood Old Rod, Middleton


